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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES  
FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2016 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that present fairly the financial position of 
PUBLIC JOINT STOCK COMPANY “BTA BANK” (the “Bank”) as at 31 December 2016, and the results of its 
operations, cash flows, and changes in equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for: 
 

 Properly selecting and applying accounting policies; 

 Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable, 
and understandable information;  

 Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements of IFRS is insufficient to enable 
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events, and conditions on the Bank’s financial 
position and financial performance; and 

 Making an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
Management is also responsible for: 
 

 Designing, implementing, and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls, throughout the Bank; 

 Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Bank’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Bank, and which enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements of the Bank comply with IFRS; 

 Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with the legislation of Ukraine; 

 Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Bank; and 

 Detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016 were approved and authorized for issue 
by the Bank’s Management Board on 7 April 2017. 
 
 
On behalf of the Bank’s Management Board: 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders and the Management Board of PUBLIC JOINT STOCK COMPANY “BTA BANK” 
 
Qualified Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of PUBLIC JOINT STOCK COMPANY “BTA BANK” (the “Bank”), 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the statement of profit or 
loss, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 
report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Bank as at 31 December 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, management recorded foreign currency denominated financial liability 

from parent at the carrying amount of UAH 24,588 thousand and UAH 21,027 thousand, respectively, and did 
not revalue it in accordance with the exchange rates at the respective dates, which constitutes a departure 

from IFRS. Had management recorded the financial liability from parent at the exchange rates effective as at 
31 December 2016 and 2015, the carrying amount of the loan would have increased by UAH 242,617 
thousand and UAH 201,123 thousand, respectively. The effect of revaluation of the outstanding amount 
recorded as a translation differences for the above years would have amounted to UAH 30,045 thousand and 
UAH 138,548 thousand, the income tax amount for the above years would have decreased by UAH 13,721 
thousand and UAH 242 thousand, and the equity as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 would have decreased 

by UAH 228,896 thousand and UAH 200,881 thousand, respectively. The recognition of the outstanding 
amount as foreign currency denominated as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 will lead to the increase in 
the open short currency position in USD by the amount of UAH 267,205 thousand and 
UAH 222,150 thousand, respectively. 
 

During the year ended 31 December 2016 based on the court decision the Bank lost ownership for part of its 
investment property with carrying value of UAH 49,370 thousand, but has not derecognized an asset from its 

statement of financial position, which constitutes a departure from IFRS. Had management derecognized 
the asset, investment properties and equity as at 31 December 2016 would have decreased by UAH 49,370 
thousand and net profit would have decreased by UAH 49,370 thousand, respectively. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Bank will continue as a going 
concern. As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Bank’s net interest expense after allowance 
for impairment of interest bearing assets, loss before income tax, accumulated losses, net cash outflow from 
operating activity, short-term liquidity gap indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as going concern. Management’s plans concerning these matters are 
also discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements. The financial statements do not include any adjustments 
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

http://www.deloitte.com/about
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit.  
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 Notes   2016  2015 
Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 8  94,695  157,751 
Due from banks 9  11,889  5,823 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10  1,443  986 
Loans to customers 11  452,036  530,913 
Securities available for sale  12  155,075  208,489 
Securities held to maturity 12  -  30,015 
Investment property 13  1,228,507  1,303,359 
Property and equipment and intangible assets 14  93,726  19,601 
Non-current and current assets held for sale 15  51,305  58,850 
Current income tax receivable            1,249  1,844 
Other financial assets 17  5,829  2,677 
Other assets 17  94,691  119,706 

      
Total assets   2,190,445  2,440,014 

      Liabilities      
      
Financial liabilities to the shareholder 19  109,034  97,865 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 10  657  - 
Customer accounts 20  392,188  632,438 
Deferred tax liabilities 16  1,126  37,448 
Other financial liabilities 17  3,683  2,484 
Other liabilities 17  27,085  23,769 

      
Total liabilities   533,773  794,004 

      
Equity       
Statutory capital 21  1,508,983  1,508,983 
Additional paid-in capital 21  3  3 
Accumulated losses   (46,173)  (50,810) 
Gain on initial recognition of financial instrument on 
transactions with shareholders 21 

 
140,403  140,403 

Reserve and other funds 21  27,826  27,647 
Revaluation reserves 21  25,630  19,784 

      
Total equity   1,656,672  1,646,010 

      
Total liabilities and equity   2,190,445  2,440,014 

 
Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Bank’s Management Board:  
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Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Bank’s Management Board: 
 

 Notes   2016  2015 
      Interest income       

Loans to customers   75,558  138,869 
Securities available for sale and held to maturity   24,862  29,893 
Due from banks   1,408  59 

       23  101,828  168,821 

Interest expense      
Customer accounts   (43,408)  (69,077) 
Loans from the National Bank of Ukraine   -  (50,904) 
Financial liabilities to the shareholder   (11,169)  (14,590) 
Due to banks   (2,730)  (6) 

         (57,307)  (134,577) 

      Net interest income     44,521  34,244 

      Allowances for impairment of interest bearing assets 8, 11  (76,120)  122,929 
Initial recognition adjustment on interest bearing assets   -  (34,448) 

      Net interest (expense)/income after allowance for impairment 
of interest bearing assets  

 
(31,599) 

 
122,725 

      Fee and commission income   15,381  19,372 
Fee and commission expense   (6,003)  (4,001) 

      Net fee and commission income 24  9,378  15,371 

      Trading gains/(losses) on transactions with securities available for 
sale  

 
2,644 

 
(53) 

Allowances for impairment of securities available for sale 12  -  (4,554) 
Net loss on transactions with financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss 25 

 
(2,596) 

 
(150,978) 

Result on revaluation of investment properties 13  (36,230)  (4,009) 
Net gain/(loss) on foreign currency transactions      

- dealings   10,843  14,959 
- translation differences   (5,516)  (21,050) 
Rental income   149,262  137,738 
Other income 26  75,959  59,487 

      Other non-interest income   194,366  31,540 

      Staff costs 27  (65,039)  (47,220) 
Depreciation and amortization 14  (3,966)  (5,564) 
Other operating expense 27  (120,755)  (110,608) 
Allowances for impairment of other assets and liabilities 18  224  (534) 

      Other non-interest expense   (189,536)  (163,926) 

      (Loss)/profit before income tax   (17,391)  5,710 
      Income tax benefit/(expenses) 16  21,534  (2,143) 

      Profit for the year   4,143  3,567 

      Basic earnings per ordinary share for the year (UAH)   0.21  0.18 
Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the year (UAH)    0.21  0.18 
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 Notes   2016  2015 
      
Profit for the year   4,143  3,567 
      
Other comprehensive income:      
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss      
Net unrealized losses on securities available for sale 21  (491)  (53) 
Realized gains on securities available for sale reclassified 
to the statement of profit or loss 21  -  53 

Net other comprehensive loss that may be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   (491)  - 

      
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss      
Revaluation of property and equipment 21  5,943  - 
Income taxes attributable to other comprehensive income 16, 21   1,067  - 

      
Net other comprehensive income that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   7,010  - 

      
Other comprehensive income after income tax   -  - 

      
Total comprehensive income for the year   10,662  3,567 

 
 
Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Bank’s Management Board:  
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Statutory 
capital  

Additional 
paid-in 
capital  

Accumu-
lated losses  

Reserve 
and other 
funds of 
the Bank  

Revaluation 
reserves 

Gain on initial 
recognition of 

financial 
instruments on 

transactions 
with 

shareholders 
Total 
equity 

              
As at 1 January 2015 1,508,983  9,240  (63,735)  27,647  19,905  -  1,502,040 

              
Total comprehensive 
income for the year - 

 
- 

 
3,567 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
3,567 

Gain on initial 
recognition of financial 
instruments on 
transactions with 
shareholders (Note 21) - 

 

(9,237) 

 

9,237 

 

- 

 

- 

 

140,403 

 

140,403 
Depreciation of 
revaluation reserve, net of 
taxes (Note 21) - 

 

- 

 

121 

 

- 

 

(121) 

 

- 

 

- 

              
As at 31 December 2015 1,508,983  3  (50,810)  27,647  19,784  140,403  1,646,010 

              
Total comprehensive 
income for the year - 

 
- 

 
4,143 

 
- 

 
6,519 

 
- 

 
10,662 

Reversal of prior year 
losses (Note 21) - 

 
- 

 
(179) 

 
179 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Depreciation of 
revaluation reserve, net of 
taxes (Note 21) - 

 

- 

 

673 

 

- 

 

(673) 

 

- 

 

- 

              
As at 31 December 2016 1,508,983  3  (46,173)  27,826  25,630  140,403  1,656,672 

 
Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Bank’s Management Board:  
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 Notes   2016  2015 
      
Cash flows from operating activities      
Interest income received   57,437  151,676 
Interest expense paid   (47,040)  (103,044) 
Fee and commission income received   14,911  19,585 
Fee and commission expense paid   (6,003)  (4,047) 
Result on foreign currency transactions   10,843  14,959 
Result or losses on transactions with financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   (3,049)  2,237 
Rental income received   149,262  138,490 
Other income received   71,231  56,833 
Staff costs paid   (65,333)  (46,850) 
Other operating expense paid   (95,896)  (88,256) 
Income taxes paid   (13,126)  - 

      Cash generated from operating activities before 
changes in operating assets and liabilities   73,237  141,583 
      Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets      
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   -  10,708 
Due from banks   (5,691)  2,513 
Loans to customers   22,473  396,389 
Other assets   10,537  23,218 
Net (decrease)/increase in operating liabilities      
Loans from the National Bank of Ukraine   -  (287,000) 
Customer accounts   (288,556)  (250,201) 
Other liabilities   4,058  (1,423) 

      Net cash (used in)/generated from operating 
activities   (183,942)  35,787 

      Cash flows from investing activities      
Purchase of securities available for sale   (1,979,932)  (6,725,000) 
Proceeds from disposal and repayment of securities 
available for sale   2,056,095  6,540,945 
Purchase of securities held to maturity   (1,912,000)  (1,441,000) 
Proceeds from repayment of securities held to maturity   1,942,000  1,411,000 
Proceeds from disposal of investment property   6,078  16,198 
Purchase of intangible assets   (775)  (213) 
Purchase of property and equipment   (11,798)  (568) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment   4,700  2,223 
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale   2,658  4,595 

      Net cash generated from/(used in) investing 
activities   107,026  (191,820) 
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 Notes   2016  2015 
      
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents   13,860  74,622 
      Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (63,056)  (81,411) 
      Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 8  157,751  239,162 

      Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 8  94,695  157,751 

 
During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank had non-cash settlements for uncollectible loans to 
customers of prior periods.  Those non-cash settlements were excluded from the statement of cash flows and presented 
separately as follows:  
 
  2016  2015 

    
Loans to customers settled by means of collateral repossession 42,901  2,123 
Properties received as a repossessed collateral (42,901)  (2,123) 
 
 
Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Bank’s Management Board: 
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1. Organization 
 
PUBLIC JOINT STOCK COMPANY “BTA BANK” (the “Bank”) was incorporated on 10 December 1992.  
The Bank operates under general banking license # 25 issued by the National Bank of Ukraine (the “NBU”) on 
14 October 2011, which provides the Bank with the right to conduct banking operations, including foreign currency 
transactions.  The Bank also has the License for Depository Activities, the License for Custodial Services from the 
National Securities and Stock Market Commission the validity of which, effective from 12 October 2013, is indefinite, 
and the Licenses for Professional Activities in Stock Market – Trading in Securities: Brokerage and Dealer Activities 
issued by the National Commission for Securities and Stock Market on 23 October 2014 the validity of which is 
indefinite starting from 24 October 2014. 
 
The Bank accepts deposits from individuals and legal entities, extends loans, transfers payments in Ukraine and abroad, 
exchanges currencies, and provides other banking services to legal entities and individuals. 
 
The Bank has been the participant of Individual Deposit Guarantee Fund since 2 September 1999.  The Fund is a state 
specialized institution that accumulates insurance contributions from Ukrainian banks.  The Fund is responsible for 
covering the Bank’s liabilities to individual depositors in the amount that does not exceed UAH 200 thousand per each 
depositor in the event of bankruptcy or cancellation of the banking license issued by the NBU. 
 
The Bank’s head office is located in Kyiv and, as at 31 December 2016, the Bank had 4 operational branches (2015: 4).  
As at 31 December 2016, the Bank employed 238 persons (2015: 211 persons). 
 
The Bank’s registered address is at: 75 Zhylianska Str., Kyiv, Ukraine. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan) owned 99.99536% (31 December 2015: 49.9883%) of issued 
ordinary shares of the Bank.  As at 31 December 2016, ultimate beneficiaries of the Bank were individuals 
Subkhanberdin, Nurzhan and Rakishev, Kenes, citizens of the Republic of Kazakhstan (31 December 2015: 
Subkhanberdin, Nurzhan and Rakishev, Kenes, shareholders of JSC “Kazkommertsbank” who, in turn, owned 94.84% 
in JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan) as at 31 December 2015). 
 
As at 31 December 2016, individuals owned 0.0047% of the Bank’s issued ordinary shares (31 December 
2015: 0.0047%). 
 
The Bank’s strategic objective is to become a modern, comprehensive, and competitive bank in Ukraine, which 
contemplates creating a structure that would be adaptive and sustainable to rapid changes in the external environment, 
considerate and innovative to customer needs, and reasonably conservative in ongoing activities. 
 
Strategic goals of the Bank include the following: 
  

 Increase the competitive ability and efficiency of operations; 

 Ensure the optimal level of solvency and liquidity; 

 Comply with the growth policies and diversification of customers and services; 

 Ensure protection from equity and borrowed funds risks. 
 
 

2. Operating environment in Ukraine  
 

In the recent years, Ukraine has been in a political and economic turmoil.  Crimea, an autonomous republic of Ukraine, 
was effectively annexed by the Russian Federation.  In 2016, an armed conflict with separatists continued in certain 
parts of Luhanska and Donetska regions.  These events resulted in higher inflation, devaluation of the national currency 
against major foreign currencies, decrease in GDP, illiquidity and volatility of financial markets.  In January 2016, the 
agreement on the free trade area between Ukraine and the EU came into force.  As a result, the Russian Federation 
implemented a trade embargo or import duties on key Ukrainian export products.  In response, Ukraine implemented 
similar measures against Russian products.  
 
In 2016, average inflation amounted to 13.9% comparing to 48.7% in 2015.  Despite the fact that the cumulative 
inflation in Ukraine for the three latest years slightly exceeded 100%, management believes that the Ukrainian economy 
is not hyperinflationary due to slowing down of inflation during 2016 and lack of qualitative characteristics of the 
hyperinflationary economic environment.  
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The economic situation began to stabilize in 2016, which resulted in GDP growth around 1% and stabilization of 
Ukrainian Hryvnia.  This allowed the National Bank of Ukraine to ease some foreign exchange restrictions imposed 
during 2014-2015, including decrease of the required share of foreign currency proceeds sale to 65% and permission 
of dividends remittance abroad.  However, certain other restrictions were prolonged.  Significant external financing is 
required to support the economy.  During 2015 and 2016, Ukraine received the first tranches of extended fund facilities 
(“EFF”) agreed with the IMF.  Further stabilization of the economic and political situation depends, to a large extent, 
upon success of the Ukrainian government’s efforts, yet further economic and political developments are currently 
difficult to predict. 
 
 

3. Going concern 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Bank is a going concern and will continue 
in operation for the foreseeable future.  Management and shareholders have the intention to further support the Bank’s 
business.  For the year ended 31 December 2016, net interest expense after the allowance for interest-bearing assets 
amounted to UAH 31,599 thousand, loss before income tax amounted to UAH 17,391 thousand, cash outflows from 
the Bank’s operating activities amounted to UAH 183,942 thousand, and accumulated losses and cumulative liquidity 
gap within one year as at 31 December 2016 amounted to UAH 46,173 thousand and UAH 58,791 thousand, 
respectively, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue 
as going concern. 
 
Above mentioned cumulative liquidity gap within one year includes expected future cash flows calculated without 
information about stable customer account balances in the amount of UAH 87,557 thousand (Note 30), and the Bank’s 
ability to sale government bonds issued by the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine, at fair value UAH 65,017 thousand 
(Note 12), that is fully covered cumulative liquidity gap within one year. After 31 December 2016 stable customer 
account balances was in the amount of UAH 77,678 thousand. 

 
As at 31 December 2016 the Bank violated National Bank of Ukraine requirements on currency position (L13-1). 

 
Management believes that the going concern assumption is appropriate for the Bank due to the following: 
 

 Sufficient capital adequacy ratio based on the NBU’s requirements of 80.25% (2015: 76.92%) (Note 32); 

 Intention of shareholders to further support the Bank’s business; 

 Bring the limit amount set for total long currency position (Л13-1) in line with the statutory requirement subsequent 
to 31 December 2016 (Note 33). 

 
The Bank’s management intends to undertake all required measures to fulfill its strategic objectives for the years 2017 
and 2018 and the budget for 2017, in particular: 
 
1) Obtain the maximum rate of return (with minimum risk exposures) on transactions with securities (deposit 

certificates issued by the NBU, other financial instruments issued by the NBU); 

2) Receive maximum profitability from operating leases of own premises; 

3) Continue efforts on the disposal of properties acquired by the Bank or used as a collateral that was repossessed as 
a result of claims for overdue loans. Funds received  from the sale of properties and investment properties the Bank 
plans to place in minimum-risk financial instruments (deposit certificates issued by the NBU, other financial 
instruments issued by the NBU); 

4) Undertake measures on renegotiating non-performing loans to customers;  

5) Continue efforts on the repayment of bad debt balances accounted for on off-balance sheet accounts. 
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4. Basis of preparation 
 
General information 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”).  To prepare the financial statements and maintain its accounting records, the Bank uses the following IFRS 
and International Accounting Standards (“IAS”): IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations”,  IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”, IAS 1 “Presentation 
of Financial Statements”, IAS 2 “Inventories”, IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”, IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates, and Errors”, IAS 10 “Events after the Reporting Period”, IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, IAS 16 
“Property, Plant, and Equipment”,  IAS 17 “Leases”,  IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, IAS 21 “The 
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”, IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies”, IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, IAS 33 “Earnings per Share”, IAS 36 
“Impairment of Assets”, IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets”, IAS 38 “Intangible 
Assets”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, and IAS 40 “Investment Property”. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the summary of 
accounting policies below.  For example, securities available for sale, derivative financial instruments, and investment 
property are carried at fair value, and buildings included in property and equipment are carried at revalued amounts. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of 
IAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as value in use 
in IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 
 
 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Levels 1, 2, or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:  
  

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Bank can 
access at the measurement date; 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
In maintaining its accounting records, the Bank is governed by the Ukrainian legislation.  These financial statements 
have been prepared from the Ukrainian statutory accounting records maintained in accordance with the regulations of 
the National Bank of Ukraine and have been adjusted to conform to the financial statements presentation requirements 
in accordance with IFRS in the event the differences are identified between the requirements under IFRS and the laws 
of Ukraine, in particular, application of the requirements of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies” to equity.  
 
Hyperinflationary accounting  
 
The Ukrainian economy was considered hyperinflationary until 31 December 2000.  As such, the Bank has applied 
IAS 29 “Financial Accounting in Hyperinflationary Economies”.  The effect of applying IAS 29 is that non-monetary 
items, including components of equity, were restated to the measuring unit that was effective as at 31 December 2000 
by applying the relevant inflation consumer price indices to the historical cost, and that those restated amounts were 
used as a basis for accounting in subsequent periods. 
 

The Bank presents items of its statement of financial position in the order of liquidity.  A detailed summary on recovery 
or repayment of items within 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position (current) and over 
12 months after the date of the statement of financial position (non-current) is presented in Note 30. 
 
  

http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ifrs05.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ifrs05.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ifrs07.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ifrs13.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias01.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias01.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias08.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias08.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias10.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias12.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias16.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias21.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias21.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias24.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias29.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias29.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias32.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias33.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias36.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias37.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias38.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias38.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias40.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias29.pdf
http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/bnstandards/en/2015/ias29.pdf
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The positions included in the Bank’s financial statements are recorded in the currency that best reflects the economic 
substance of underlying events and conditions relevant to the Bank’s activities (the “functional currency”).  The 
functional currency of these financial statements is Ukrainian Hryvnia (“UAH”).  All values are rounded to the nearest 
UAH thousand, unless otherwise indicated.  
 
Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.  Income and expense are not offset in the 
statement of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive income unless required or permitted by any IFRS or 
Interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank.  In accounting for the transfer of 
financial assets that do not result in de-recognition of such assets, the Bank does not offset the assets transferred and 
the underlying liabilities. 
 
 

5. Summary of significant accounting policies  
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition 
 
Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.  The Bank 
determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial recognition, and subsequently may reclassify financial 
assets in certain cases as described below. 
 
Date of recognition 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Bank 
commits to purchase the asset.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or securities available for sale.  Such assets are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process, other than those reclassified to 
other categories of financial assets.  Loans to customers granted by the Bank are initially recognized at fair value, plus 
related transaction costs.  Where the fair value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the loan, for 
example, where the loan is issued at lower than market rates, the difference between the fair value of consideration 
given and the fair value of the loan is recognized in the statement of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive 
income in accordance with the nature of those losses.  Subsequently, loans to customers are carried at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method.  Loans to customers are carried net of any allowance for impairment. 
 
Securities available for sale 
 
Securities available for sale are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, or loans and receivables.  
After initial recognition, securities available for sale are measured at fair value, with gains or losses being recognized as a 
separate component in the statement of comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized or is determined to 
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the statement of comprehensive income is 
included in the statement of profit or loss.  Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method is recognized 
in profit or loss. 
 
Investments in equity instruments that are not quoted in an active market and the fair value of which cannot be measured 
reliably are measured at cost, net of the allowance for impairment.  
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Securities held to maturity  
 
The Bank’s portfolio held to maturity includes the acquired debt securities with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity dates.  The debt securities are included in the above portfolio when the Bank has a positive intent and 
ability to hold them to maturity.  At each reporting date, the Bank assesses its intent and ability to hold the securities 
to maturity.  Upon initial recognition, the securities included in the portfolio held to maturity are stated at each 
reporting date at their amortized cost by using the effective interest rate method.  The securities in the portfolio held 
to maturity are not revalued.  Reclassification of the securities held to maturity to the category of available for sale is 
performed at fair value.  In the event a decision is made on the sale of the securities held to maturity, they are first 
transferred to the category of securities available for sale. 
 
Reclassification of financial assets 
 
If a non-derivative financial asset classified as designated at fair value through profit or loss is no longer held for the 
purpose of selling in the near term, it may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category in one of 
the following cases: 
 

 A financial asset that meets the definition of loans and receivables above may be reclassified to loans and receivables 
category if the Bank has the intention and ability to hold it for the foreseeable future or until maturity; 

 Other financial assets may be reclassified to available-for-sale or held-to-maturity categories only in rare 
circumstances. 

 
Financial assets are reclassified at their fair values on the date of reclassification.  Any gain or loss already recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss is not reversed.  The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification 
becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, amounts due from the NBU (other than obligatory reserves on a 
separate account), and high-liquid due from banks that matures within ninety days from the date of origination and is 
free from contractual encumbrances. Deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of Ukraine are not included to 
the Cash and cash equivalent. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into various derivative financial instruments, including forwards and 
swaps in the foreign exchange market.  Such financial instruments are held for trading and are recorded at fair value.  
The fair values are estimated based on quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account the current market 
and contractual prices of the underlying instruments and other factors.  Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative.  Gains and losses resulting from these instruments are included 
in the statement of profit or loss as net gains/(losses) on transactions with derivatives.  Derivatives embedded in other 
financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and 
risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated 
at fair value through profit or loss.  The embedded derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value on the 
trading portfolio, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  
 
If economic characteristics and risks of embedded derivatives are closely related to those of the host contract, then the 
derivative is not separated from the host contract and is accounted for in the same line in the statement of financial 
position.  Any changes in fair values of the embedded derivative that is not separated from the host contract are 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Due to banks and customer accounts 
 
Issued financial instruments or their components are classified as liabilities, where the substance of the contractual 
arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or 
to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for the fixed 
number of own equity instruments.  Such instruments include due to banks and customer accounts.  After initial 
recognition, due to banks and customer accounts are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized, as well as 
through the amortization process.  
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If the Bank repays its own debt, it is removed from the statement of financial position, and the difference between 
the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Leases 
 
Operating leases – the Bank as lessee  
 
Leases of assets under which the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by a lessor are classified as 
operating leases.  Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term and included in other operating expense. 
 
Operating leases – the Bank as lessor  
 
The Bank presents assets that are subjects of operating leases in the statement of financial position according to the 
nature of the asset.  Rental income on operating leases is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease period as other income.  The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of 
rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease period.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
Due from banks and loans to customers 
 
For due from banks and loans to customers carried at amortized cost, the Bank initially assesses individually whether 
the objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risks characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets 
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 
If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amounts and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  Interest income 
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  
Loans, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the Bank.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the 
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future 
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss. 
 
The present value of estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  If 
a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest 
rate.  The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects 
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure, less costs for repossessing and selling the collateral, whether or 
not foreclosure is probable. 
 
For the purpose of a collective assessment of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Bank’s 
internal credit grading system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical 
location, collateral type, past-due status, and other relevant factors.  



PJSC “BTA BANK”                                  Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

(in Ukrainian Hryvnias and in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 
 

The accompanying notes on pages from 7 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
13 

Future cash flows of a group of financial assets that are collectively assessed for impairment are estimated based on 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  Historical loss 
experience is adjusted based on current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect 
the years on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical 
period that do not exist currently.  Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent 
with, changes in related observable data from year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices, 
commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group or their 
magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce 
any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
 
Securities available for sale 
 
For securities available for sale, the Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the statement of 
profit or loss; and increases in their fair values after impairment are recognized directly in equity. 
 
In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as 
financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is 
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment 
loss.  The interest income is recorded in the statement profit or loss.  If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt 
instrument increases and the increase can be objectively associated to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Renegotiated loans 
 
Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of a collateral.  This may involve 
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan terms and conditions. 
 
The accounting treatment of such restructuring is as follows:  
 

 If the currency of the loan has been changed, the previous loan is derecognized and a new loan is recognized;  

 If the loan restructuring is not caused by the financial difficulties of a borrower but the cash flows were renegotiated 
on favorable terms for the borrower, then the loan is not recognized as impaired.  The loan is not derecognized 
but a new effective interest rate is determined based on the remaining cash flows under the loan agreement;  

 If the loan is impaired after restructuring, the Bank uses the original effective interest rate in respect of new cash 
flows to estimate the recoverable amount of the loan.  The difference between the restated present value of the 
new cash flows taking into account collateral and the carrying amount before restructuring is included in the 
allowance charges for the period. 

 
Once the terms and conditions have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due.  Management 
consistently reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.  
The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, and their recoverable value is 
calculated using the loan’s original or current effective interest rates. 
 
Asset management 
 
The Bank acts as an asset manager for a number of construction financing funds.  The Bank acts as an agent in such 
arrangements and its responsibility is limited to fiduciary duties, which are commonly applied in the asset management 
business.  Accordingly, the Bank does not recognize liabilities relating to the funds under management, but assesses 
the need to recognize any provisions relating to additional guarantees issued by the Bank with respect to the activities 
of such funds.  The funds under management are not legal entities under the laws of Ukraine.  The management of 
fund activities is effectively delegated to the Bank.  The funds maintain their current accounts with the Bank to the 
extent to which the funds are not invested in eligible assets, which meet the investment profile for the relevant fund. 
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De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets 
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized where: 
 

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

 The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 

 The Bank either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
Where the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the 
extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay. 
 
Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option 
or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement is the amount of the 
transferred asset that the Bank may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled 
option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement is 
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. 
 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss or equity in the event of transactions with shareholders. 
 
Financial guarantees 
 
The Bank enters into credit related commitments, including letters of credit and financial guarantees.  Financial 
guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations 
to third parties and carry the same credit risk as loans.  Financial guarantees, letters of credit, and commitments to 
provide a loan are initially recognized at their fair values, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received.  
This amount is amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the commitment, except for commitments to originate 
loans if it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to repay the 
resulting loan shortly after origination; such loan commitment fees are deferred and included in the carrying value of 
the loan on initial recognition.  At each reporting date, the commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest 
rate are measured at the higher of (i) the amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities, and Contingent Assets” and (ii) the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative 
amortization recognized in accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue”.  
 
Taxation  
 
The current income tax charge is calculated in accordance with the Ukrainian tax regulations. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the balance sheet liability 
method.  Deferred income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, except where the deferred income tax arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
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A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. 
 
Ukraine also has various other operating taxes, which are assessed on the Bank’s activities.  These taxes are included 
as a component of other operating expenses. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
After the initial recognition at cost, buildings are carried at revalued amounts, which is the fair value at the date of 
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.  
Revaluations are performed on a regular basis to ensure that the fair value of revalued assets does not differ significantly 
from their carrying amounts. 
 
Any revaluation surplus is credited to other comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 
decrease of the same asset previously recognized in the statement of profit or loss, in which case the increase is 
recognized in profit or loss.  A revaluation decrease is recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except that the 
decrease directly offsetting a previous increase on the same asset is directly offset against the increase in the revaluation 
reserve for property and equipment. 
 
An annual transfer from the revaluation reserve for property and equipment to retained earnings is made for the 
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amounts of the assets and the depreciation based 
on the assets’ original cost.  Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.  The revaluation 
reserve for buildings included in equity is transferred directly to retained earnings on a straight-line basis as the Bank 
uses the assets.  On the retirement or disposal of the assets, the remaining revaluation reserve is immediately transferred 
to retained earnings. 
 
Property and equipment, other than real estate items, are carried at cost, net of the costs of day-to-day maintenance, 
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. 
 
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use.  Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful lives: 
 
 Years  
  
Buildings  55 
Leasehold improvements  2–7 
Furniture and fittings  2–10 
Computer and office equipment 1.5–10 
Vehicles  5 
Equipment  12 

 
Expenditures for leasehold improvements are recognized as assets and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the applicable lease term or useful life of the leasehold improvement. 
 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives, and methods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at 
the end of each reporting year. 
 
Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance 
and overhaul costs, are normally charged to the expenses in the period when incurred.  In the situations where it can 
be clearly determined that the expenditures have resulted in an increase of the future economic benefits expected to 
be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, 
the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of properties. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of 
profit or loss in the year when the item is derecognized. 
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Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets include computer software and licenses.  Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 
recognition at cost.  After the initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at historical cost, less any accumulated 
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.  The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic lives from one to ten 
years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  
Amortization periods and methods for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial 
year-end. 
 
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recorded as an expense as incurred.  Software 
development costs (relating to the design and testing of new or substantially improved software) are recognized as 
intangible assets only when the Bank can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the software so that it will 
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete, and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
during the development.  Other software development costs are recognized as an expense as incurred. 
 
Investment property 
 
Investment property is property held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation rather than for use in 
the operating activities or for administrative purposes and which is not occupied by the Bank. 
 
Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently re-measured at fair 
value based on its market value.  The market value of the Bank’s investment property is obtained from reports of 
independent and internal appraisers who hold a recognized and relevant professional qualification and who have recent 
experience in valuation of property of similar location and category. 
 
The same investment property item may be allocated to completely separated parts that are used for different purposes: 
one part, to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, and the other, for use in the Bank’s operating activities or 
for administrative purposes.  
 
Such parts of investment properties should be accounted for separately if they can be disposed of individually.  If those 
parts cannot be disposed of individually, then such an item is recognized as investment property provided only an 
insignificant part of it (less than 25%) is held for the use in the Bank’s operating activities or for administrative 
purposes.  
 
Non-current and current assets classified as held for sale 
 
The Bank classifies a non-current and current asset as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  For this to be the case, the non-current and current 
asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary 
for sales of such assets and its sale must be highly probable. 
 
The sale qualifies as highly probable if the Bank’s management is committed to a plan to sell the non-current or current 
asset, and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan should have been initiated.  Further, the non-
current or current asset should be actively marketed for a sale at the price that is reasonable in relation to its current 
fair value and, in addition, the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification of the non-current and current asset as held for sale. 
 
The Bank measures an asset classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value, less costs to 
sell.  The Bank recognizes an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value, less 
costs to sell, if events or changes in circumstance indicate that their carrying amounts may be impaired. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. 
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Retirement and other benefit obligations  
 

The Bank does not have any pension arrangements separate from the State Pension System of Ukraine, which requires 
current contributions by the employer calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments; such expense is 
charged in the period the related salaries are earned.  In addition, the Bank has no post-retirement benefits or significant 
other compensated benefits requiring accrual. 
 

Statutory capital 
 

Statutory capital contributions received before 31 December 2000 are recognized at restated cost following the 
application of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”. 
 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than on 
a business combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity.  
 

Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recognized as additional 
paid-in capital.  
 

Reserves included in equity (other comprehensive income) in the Bank’s statement of financial position comprise a 
revaluation reserve for investments available for sale reflecting changes in the fair value of financial assets available for 
sale and a revaluation reserve for the buildings consisting of the land and buildings revaluation reserve. 
 

Reserve and other funds are created in accordance with the Ukrainian legislation to cover potential losses and other 
expenditures of the Bank.  Reserve and other funds are created by allocating the Bank’s net profits for the year 
(at least 5%) until the reserve and other funds reach 25% of the Bank’s regulatory capital. 
 

Contingencies 
 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position but are disclosed unless the possibility 
of any outflow in settlement is remote.  A contingent asset is not recognized in the statement of financial position but 
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 

Recognition of revenue and expense 
 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized. 
 

Interest income and expense 
 

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest bearing financial instruments classified as 
designated at fair value through profit or loss or available for sale, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability.  The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses.  The carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of payments or receipts.  The adjusted carrying amount is 
calculated based on the original effective interest rateб and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income 
or expense. 
 

Fee and commission income and expense 
 

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a varied range of services it provides to its customers.  Fee and 
commission income can be divided into the following two categories: 
 

 Fee and commission income received from and fee and commission expense paid for the services rendered (received) during a certain period 
 

Fees and commission income and expense earned for the provision of services (paid for the services received) over 
a period of time are accrued over that period.  These fees include commission income (expense) and asset management, 
custody, and other management and advisory fees.  Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down 
and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate on the loan.  
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 Fee and commission income from and expense for the transaction services rendered (received) 
 
Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party – such as 
the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses – are recognized 
on completion of the underlying transaction.  Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are 
recognized after meeting the corresponding criteria. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
The financial statements are presented in Ukrainian Hryvnia (“UAH”), which is the Bank’s functional and presentation 
currency.  Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate translated at the 
official rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  Gains and losses 
resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognized in the statement of profit or loss as net 
result from foreign currency transactions – translation differences.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. 
 
Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the NBU’s exchange rate 
on the date of the transaction are included in net result from foreign currency transactions.  UAH exchange rates 
established by the NBU and used in the preparation of the financial statements were as follows: 
 

 As at  
31 December  

2016 

 As at  
31 December  

2015 
    
USD 27.190858  24.000667 
EUR 28.422604  26.223129 
RUB 0.45113  0.32931 

 
 

6. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards  
 
Standards and Interpretations issued that have become effective 
 
In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted: 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities”, and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (2011) – Investment entities: applying the 
consolidation exception; 

 Amendments to IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” – Accounting for acquisition of interests in joint operations; 

 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” – Disclosure initiative; 

 Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant, and Equipment” and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” – Clarification of 
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization; 

 Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant, and Equipment” and IAS 41 “Agriculture” – Agriculture: bearer plants; 

 IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”; 

 Amendments to IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements”– Equity method in separate financial statements; 

 Annual Improvements to IFRS 2012–2014 Cycle. 
 
The adoption of amendments to Standards did not have any effect on the financial position or performance of the 
Bank reported in the financial statements and did not result in any changes in the Bank’s accounting policies and the 
amounts reported for the current or prior years. 

  

  



PJSC “BTA BANK”                                  Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

(in Ukrainian Hryvnias and in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 
 

The accompanying notes on pages from 7 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
19 

The Bank has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 

Standards/Interpretations 

 Effective for the 
annual accounting 
periods beginning 

on or after: 

   
Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – Recognition of deferred tax assets for 

unrealized losses 
 

1 January 2017  
Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” – Disclosure initiative  1 January 2017  
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (and the related Clarifications)  1 January 2018  
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”  1 January 2018  
Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” – Classification and measurement of 

share-based payment transactions 
 

1 January 2018  
IFRS 16 “Leases”  1 January 2019  
Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 

“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” – Sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture 

 
The effective date is 

not determined 
IFRS IC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration”  1 January 2018  
Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” – Applying IFRS 9 “Financial 

Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” 
 1 January 2018  

Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property” – Transfers of investment property  1 January 2018  
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle  1 January 2017  

 
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
 
IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers. 

 
The five steps in the model are as follows: 

 

 Identify the contract with the customer; 

 Identify the performance obligations in the contract; 

 Determine the transaction price; 

 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts; 

 Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
 
Guidance is provided on topics such as the point in which revenue is recognized, accounting for variable consideration, 
costs of fulfilling and obtaining a contract, and various related matters.  New disclosures about revenue are also 
introduced. 
 
Management of the Bank does not anticipate that the application of IFRS 15 will have a significant effect on the Bank’s 
financial statements. 

 
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (2014) 
 
A finalized version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting requirements for financial instruments is replacing 
IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.  The Standard contains requirements in the 
following areas: 
 

 Classification and measurement.  Financial assets are classified by reference to the business model within which 
they are held and their contractual cash flow characteristics.  The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces a ‘fair value 
through other comprehensive income’ category for certain debt instruments.  Financial liabilities are classified in a 
similar manner as under IAS 39, however, there are differences in the requirements applying to the measurement 
of an entity’s own credit risk; 

 Impairment.  The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the measurement of the 
impairment of financial assets, so it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before a credit loss 
is recognized; 

  

http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs9
http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias39
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 Hedge accounting.  Introduces a new hedge accounting model that is designed to be more closely aligned with 
how entities undertake risk management activities when hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures; 

 De-recognition.  The requirements for the de-recognition of financial assets and liabilities are carried forward 
from IAS 39. 

 
Management of the Bank anticipates that the application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” in the future may have 
a significant impact on the amounts reported in respect of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities.  However, 
it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until a detailed review has been completed. 
 
IFRS 16 “Leases” 
 
IFRS 16 “Leases” specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognize, measure, present, and disclose leases.  The Standard 
provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the 
lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value.  Lessors continue to classify leases as operating 
or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17. 
 
Management of the Bank does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a significant effect 
on the Bank’s financial statements. 
 
Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property” – Transfers of investment property  
 
The amendments are intended to clarify that an entity can only reclassify a property to/from investment property 
when, and only when, there is evidence that a change in the use of the property has occurred.  The amendments 
emphasize that a change in management’s intentions alone would not be enough to support a transfer of property.  
The Standard has a list of circumstances that evidence a change in use, which is perceived by some as being exhaustive, 
the amendments make it clear that they are only examples. Entities may elect to apply them either retrospectively (if it 
is possible without the use of hindsight) or prospectively. 
 
Management of the Bank is currently evaluating the impact of amendments to IAS 40 on the Bank’s financial statement. 
 
 

7. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from 
those involving estimates, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Where the fair values of financial assets recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active 
markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of valuation models.  The input 
to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment 
is required in establishing fair values. 
 
Identification of inter-bank swap agreements 
 
In 2016, the Bank entered into a number of inter-bank mutual placements in different currencies with other Ukrainian 
banks.  The purpose of the majority of these deals was to provide short-term financing to other banks secured with 
a cash deposit received in return.  The principal amounts of such placements and attractions and related interest rates 
on such deals may differ significantly.  The Bank considers all these mutual placements to be derivative financial 
instruments and netted respective balances and income/expense. 
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Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables, securities in the Bank’s portfolio included into categories of available for sale and held 
to maturity, and due from banks 
 
The Bank regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess for impairment.  The Bank uses its judgment to estimate 
the amount of any impairment loss in cases where a borrower is in financial difficulties and there are few available 
sources of historical data relating to similar borrowers.  
 
Similarly, the Bank estimates changes in future cash flows based on the observable data indicating that there has been 
an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults on assets in the group.  Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with 
credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the group of loans and receivables.  
The Bank uses its judgment to adjust observable data for a group of loans or receivables to reflect current 
circumstances.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  
 
Fair value of property and equipment, investment property, and assets held for sale 
 
As stated in Note 4 and Note 5, the buildings of the Bank are subject to revaluation on a regular basis.  Such 
revaluations are based on the results of the valuation performed by independent appraisers.  The basis for their 
valuation is the sales comparison approach, which is further confirmed by the income capitalization approach.  When 
performing revaluations, certain judgments and estimates are applied by appraisers in determination of the comparison 
of property and equipment to be used in the sales comparison approach, the useful lives of the assets revalued, the 
capitalization rates to be applied for the income capitalization approach.  
 
As specified in Note 5, the investment property includes property items that are partially used by the Bank in its 
operating activities or for administrative purposes.  Double-purpose properties are included in investment property 
provided only an insignificant part of it is used not for investment purposes.  Based on the historical experience, an 
insignificant part is considered by the Bank to be a space of less than 25% of the total space of such an item.  
 
Recognition of an asset on Value Added Tax 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Bank recognized an asset on value added tax (“VAT”) in the amount of UAH 87,172 
thousand (31 December 2015: UAH 105,234 thousand) related to the Bank’s acquisition of investment property.  The 
Bank’s management believes the Bank will receive sufficient amounts of taxable income that will allow realizing the 
VAT asset at the cost of current tax liabilities or at the cost of current liabilities on future rental payments (Note 13, 
22). 
 
Allowances for impairment of other assets and liabilities  
 
Assumptions and estimates related to the accrual of provisions for impairment of other assets and liabilities require 
significant estimates of management, since key assumptions used for both individual and collective assessment for 
impairment may change from period to period and materially affect the Bank’s performance. 
 
Related party determination  
 
Determination of related parties requires that management apply significant estimates in defining relationships between 
related parties. 
 
Other sources of uncertainty  
 
While the Ukrainian government has introduced a range of stabilization measures aimed at providing liquidity to Ukraine’s 
banks and companies, there continues to be uncertainty regarding the access to capital and cost of capital for the Bank 
and its counterparties, which could affect the Bank’s financial position, results of operations, and business prospects. 
 
Management is unable to reliably estimate the effects on the Bank’s financial position of any further deterioration in the 
liquidity of the financial markets and the increased volatility in the currency and equity markets.  Management believes it 
is taking all the necessary measures to support the sustainability and growth of the Bank’s business in the current 
circumstances. 
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8. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprised: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Cash on hand 36,764  37,011 
Correspondent accounts with banks 35,953  113,788 
Cash with the National Bank of Ukraine 21,978  7,317 

Total cash and cash equivalents before allowance 94,695  158,116 

    
Allowance for cash on correspondent accounts -  (365) 

    
Total cash and cash equivalents 94,695  157,751 

 
As at 31 December 2016, Ukrainian banks were not required to keep the obligatory reserve for the previous month on 
a separate account with the NBU. 
 
Cash with the NBU represents amounts deposited with the NBU relating to daily settlements and other activities.  
There are no restrictions on the withdrawal of funds from the current accounts with the NBU. As at 31 December 
2016, there were no cash and cash equivalents that were past due and impaired, in particular, the cash placed on a 
correspondent account with another bank.  As at 31 December 2015, for a portion of cash and cash equivalents placed 
on a correspondent account with another bank, a provision of 100% was created in the amount of UAH 365 thousand.  
 
Allowance for cash placed on correspondent accounts 
 
Reconciliation of allowance for cash placed on correspondent accounts was as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
As at 1 January 365  - 
Charge during the year -  365 
Recovery during the year (365)  - 

    
As at 31 December -  365 

 
 

9. Due from banks 
 
Due from banks comprised: 

 2016  2015 
    

Guarantee deposits 11,889  5,823 

    
Total due from banks 11,889  5,823 

 
As at 31 December 2016, guarantee deposits represented security deposits with one Ukrainian bank (2015: one 
Ukrainian bank) providing a provision for plastic card transactions. 
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10. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
The Bank enters into trading transactions with derivative financial instruments.  The table below shows the fair values 
of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their nominal amounts.  The nominal 
amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate, or index and is the basis upon 
which changes in the value of derivatives are measured.  The nominal amounts indicate the volume of transactions 
outstanding at the year-end and are not indicative of the credit risk. 
  

2016    2015   
Fair value  Fair value 

Assets Liabilities  Assets Liabilities 
Embedded derivatives on foreign currency 
denominated loans to customers 1,439 - 

 
986 - 

Forward foreign exchange  4 657  - - 

Total derivative assets/(liabilities) 1,443 657 
 

986 - 
 

As at 31 December 2016, included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were embedded derivatives 
under foreign currency denominated loans to customers at the fair value of UAH 1,439 thousand (2015: UAH 986 
thousand).  Change in the fair value of embedded derivatives for the year ended 31 December 2016 in the amount of 
UAH 453 thousand (net gain) was recognized in net gain on transactions with financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 25). 

 
 

11. Loans to customers  
 
Loans to customers comprised: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Loans to legal entities 683,901  711,145 
Loans to individuals 88,220  77,633 

    
Total loans to customers before allowance  772,121  788,778 

    Allowance for impairment of loans to customers (320,085)  (257,865) 

    
Total loans to customers 452,036  530,913 

 
Allowance for impairment of loans to customers 
 
Reconciliation of allowance for impairment of loans to customers by categories was as follows: 
 

 Loans to 
legal entities  

Loans to 
individuals 

 
Total 

      
Balance as at 31 December 2015 218,245  39,620  257,865 

Charge during the year 59,523  16,962  76,485 

Translation differences on allowances 2,673  5,349  8,022 

Write off of uncollectible amounts against allowance (21,861)  (426)  (22,287) 

      
Balance as at 31 December 2016 258,580  61,505  320,085 
 

     
Allowance for impairment on an individual basis 258,357  55,866  314,223 

Allowance for impairment on a collective basis 223  5,639  5,862 

      
 258,580  61,505  320,085 

Total loans to customers impaired on an 
individual basis, before allowance for impairment 
of such assets as at 31 December 2016 646,943  72,858  719,801 
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 Loans to 
legal entities  

Loans to 
individuals 

 
Total 

      
Balance as at 31 December 2014 334,799  18,804  353,603 
(Recovery)/charge during the year (125,062)  1,768  (123,294) 
Translation differences on allowances 8,508  18,768  27,276 
Reversal -  280  280 

      

Balance as at 31 December 2015 218,245  39,620  257,865 

Allowance for impairment on an individual basis 208,655  34,204  242,859 
Allowance for impairment on a collective basis 9,590  5,416  15,006 

 218,245  39,620  257,865 

Total loans to customers impaired on an 
individual basis, before allowance for impairment 
of such assets as at 31 December 2015 664,282  63,008  727,290 

 
Collateral and other credit enhancements  
 
The amount and type of collateral required by the Bank depends on the assessment of credit risk of a counterparty.  
Guidelines are implemented by the Bank regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters. 
 
Main types of collateral obtained may include: 
 

 For securities borrowings – cash or securities; 

 For loans to legal entities: on commercial lending – mortgages of real estate properties, property and equipment, 
inventory, trade accounts receivable, and cash; 

 For loans to individuals – mortgages of residential properties and movables, vehicles, and cash. 
 
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying 
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for 
loan impairment.  The following table summarizes the loans secured by respective collateral and not the fair value of 
collateral itself: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Loans secured by real estate and property rights thereto 479,974  575,789 

Unsecured loans* 243,184  152,505 

Loans secured by cash 26,320  38,714 

Loans secured by equipment and other movables and property rights 
thereto 22,643  21,770 
   , 
Total loans to customers before allowance 772,121  788,778 
    
Allowance for impairment of loans to customers (320,085)  (257,865) 
    
Total loans to customers 452,036  530,913 

     * Including loans secured by merchandise and other property rights 

 
Concentration of loans to customers 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Bank had a concentration of loans to customers due from top ten borrowers in the 
amount of UAH 714,400 thousand (92.5% of the total loan portfolio before allowance) (31 December 2015: 
UAH 725,933 thousand, or 92.0%).  Those loans were provided for by the allowances in the amount of UAH 291,663 
thousand (2015: UAH 223,551 thousand). 
 
As at 31 December 2016, concentration of the loan to one borrower that exceeded 10% of the Bank’s equity amounted 
to UAH 365,094 thousand, or 47.3% of the total loan portfolio, before allowance (31 December 2015: UAH 345,155 
thousand, or 43.8%). As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 the Bank violated National Bank of Ukraine requirements on 
negative classified assets. The Bank takes actions to decrease amount and share of negative classified assets. 
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Loans were granted to customers principally within Ukraine in the following industry sectors: 
 

 2016  2015 
   

 Services 387,536  376,677 

Financial services  150,988  138,605 

Agriculture and food processing 130,861  135,733 

Individuals 88,220  77,633 

Trading enterprises 13,195  59,650 

Manufacturing 770  480 
Construction  551  - 
   

 
Total loans to customers before allowance 772,121  788,778 
   

 Allowance for impairment of loans to customers (320,085)  (257,865) 

 
  

 
Total loans to customers 452,036  530,913 

 
 

12. Securities available for sale and held to maturity 
 

Securities available for sale comprised: 

 
 2016  2015 

    
Deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of Ukraine 87,272  208,489 
Government bonds issued by the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine 67,803  - 
Corporate shares 4,554  4,554 

    
Total securities available for sale before allowance 159,629  213,043 

    Allowance for impairment of securities available for sale (4,554)  (4,554) 

    
Total securities available for sale 155,075  208,489 

 
As at 31 December 2016, securities available for sale included deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of 
Ukraine with ultimate maturities up to 12 January 2017 and nominal interest rate of 14.0% and government bonds 
issued by the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine as represented by interest-bearing securities denominated in USD and 
UAH.  The maturity of foreign currency denominated bonds is on 15 August 2018, and the nominal coupon rate is 
6.7% p.a., and the maturity of UAH- denominated bonds is on 23 January 2019, and the nominal coupon rate is 19.5% 
p.a. 
 
Securities available for sale comprised: 
 

 2016  2015 

    
Deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of Ukraine -  30,015 

    
Total securities available for sale -  30,015 

 
Reconciliation of allowance for securities available for sale was as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
As at 1 January 4,554  - 
Charge during the year -  4,554 

    
As at 31 December 4,554  4,554 
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13. Investment property 
 
Movements in investment property were as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 

    
Fair value as at 1 January 1,303,359  1,324,948 
Repossessed collateral 31,747  - 
Disposals (6,040)  (17,580) 
Transfers between categories (Note 14) (64,329)  - 
Effect of revaluation of investment property (36,230)  (4,009) 

    
Fair value as at 31 December 1,228,507  1,303,359 

 
Investment property of the Bank comprises land plots, residential and non-residential properties used as a collateral 
for loans to customers that were repossessed.  Investment property is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
or both, rather than for: use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes or sale in 
the ordinary course of business. 
 
Investment properties were revalued by an independent appraiser as at 31 December 2016, and their fair values were 
determined with reference to market information.  
 
As at 31 December 2016, a part of the investment property in the amount of UAH 442,450 thousand                                 
(31 December 2015: UAH 251,701 thousand) was used as a collateral for the amounts due to JSC “BTA Bank” 
(Kazakhstan) (Note 19).  
 
The Bank transferred a part of its investment property in operating leases.  Future minimum payments under non-
cancellable operating leases were as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Within 1 year  102,241  110,649 
From 1 to 5 years 50,407  59,399 

    
Total 152,648  170,048 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Bank received rental income in the amount of UAH 149,262 thousand 
(2015: UAH 137,738 thousand) included in the statement of profit or loss. 
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14. Property and equipment and intangible assets 
 
Movements in property and equipment and intangible assets during the year ended 31 December 2016 were as follows: 
 

 Buildings 

 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 

 Computer  
and 

office 
equip-
ment 

 

Furniture 
and 

fittings 

 

Vehicles   

Construc-
tion in 

progress  
Intangible 

assets 

 Invest-
ments in 

intangible 
assets in 
progress 

 

Total 
Cost or revalued 
amounts                  

                  
As at 1 January 
2016 17,558  5,329  23,207  9,242  1,875  888  4,474  -  62,573 
Additions  1,921  -  6,965  741  -  1,689  775  428  12,519 
Transfers from 
investment 
property (Note 13) 64,329  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  64,329 
Transfers between 
categories -  -  (1,737)  1,737  -  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation  6,678  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  6,678 
Disposals  (2,700)  (541)  (12,290)  (5,846)  (964)  (2,182)  (29)  -  (24,552) 

                  
As at 31 December 
2016 87,786  4,788  16,145  5,874  911  395  5,220  428  121,547 

                  
Accumulated 
depreciation and 
amortization                  
                  
As at 1 January 
2016 (1,928)  (5,328)  (22,258)  (7,380)  (1,765)  -  (4,313)  -  (42,972) 
Charges for the 
year (771)  (1)  (1,748)  (1,091)  (65)  -  (290)  -  (3,966) 
Transfers between 
categories -  -  1,737  (1,737)  -  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation 
amortized (735)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (735) 

Disposals 342  541  12,290  5,690  960  -  29  -  19,852 

                  
As at 31 December 
2016 (3,092)  (4,788)  (9,979)  (4,518)  (870)  -  (4,574)  -  (27,821) 

                  
Net book value                  
                  
As at 1 January 
2016 15,630  1  949  1,862  110  888  161  -  19,601 

                  

As at 31 December 
2016 84,694  -  6,166  1,356  41  395  646  428  93,726 
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Movements in property and equipment and intangible assets during the year ended 31 December 2015 were as follows: 
 

 Buildings 

 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 

 Computer  
and 

office 
equip-
ment 

 

Furniture 
and 

fittings  
Equip-
ment   Vehicles   

Construc-
tion in 

progress  
Intangible 

assets 

 

Total 
Cost or revalued 
amounts                  

                  
As at 1 January 
2015 17,558  5,329  25,237  10,333  47,249  3,222  2,718  7,012  118,658 
Additions  -  -  386  11  -  59  140  213  809 
Transfers to non-
current and 
current assets held 
for sale (Note 15) -  -  -  -  (47,249)  -  -  -  (47,249) 
Disposals -  -  (2,416)  (1,102)  -  (1,406)  (1,970)  (2,751)  (9,645) 

                  
As at 31 December 
2015 17,558  5,329  23,207  9,242  -  1,875  888  4,474  62,573 

                  
Accumulated 
depreciation and 
amortization                  
                  
As at 1 January 
2015 (1,606)  (5,321)  (24,108)  (7,948)  (2,953)  (3,076)  -  (6,895)  (51,907) 
Charges for the 
year (322)  (7)  (534)  (500)  (3,937)  (95)  -  (169)  (5,564) 
Transfers to non-
current and 
current assets held 
for sale (Note 15) -  -  -  -  6,890  -  -  -  6,890 

Disposals -  -  2,384  1,068  -  1,406  -  2,751  7,609 

                  
As at 31 December 
2015 (1,928)  (5,328)  (22,258)  (7,380)  -  (1,765)  -  (4,313)  (42,972) 

                  
Net book value                  
                  
As at 1 January 
2015 15,952  8  1,129  2,385  44,296  146  2,718  117  66,751 

                  
As at 31 December 
2015  15,630  1  949  1,862  -  110  888  161  19,601 

 
Valuation of the Bank’s buildings was performed by an independent appraiser as at 31 December 2016.  The fair value 
was determined by reference to market information.  Based on the valuation performed, the Bank’s management made 
corresponding adjustments in the accounting data.  

 
In August 2016, the Bank separated a part of business center premises, in amount of UAH 64,329 thousand, that were 
included in investment property and transferred them to property and equipment as they were used in operating 
activities (Note 13). 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the carrying values of buildings would have amounted to UAH 72,015 thousand                       
(31 December 2015: UAH 3,223 thousand), had the buildings been carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, cost of fully depreciated items was as follows: leasehold improvements – UAH 4,784 
thousand (31 December 2015: UAH 5,326 thousand), computers and office equipment – UAH 7,682 thousand            
(31 December 2015: UAH 18,696 thousand), furniture and fittings – UAH 3,438 thousand (31 December 2015:       
UAH 7,233 thousand), vehicles – UAH 856 thousand (31 December 2015: UAH 1,357 thousand), intangible assets – 
UAH 4,307 thousand (31 December 2015: UAH 4,207 thousand.  As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank had 
no property and equipment items that would not be used by it. 
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15. Non-current and current assets held for sale 
 
Movements in non-current and current assets held for sale were as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
As at 1 January 58,850  22,820 
Additions  13,290  2,313 
Disposals (3,593)  (4,407) 
Transfers from property and equipment (Note 14) -  40,359 
Impairment of non-current and current assets held for sale (Note 27) (17,242)  (2,235) 

    
As at 31 December 51,305  58,850 

 
Non-current and current assets held for sale comprise the property acquired by the Bank or used as a collateral 
repossessed in recovery of past due loans to customers. 
 
As at 31 December 2015, plates and lead strip production lines with the carrying amounts of UAH 40,359 thousand 
(Note 14) were transferred to current assets held for sale as a result of change in the Bank’s intentions to those assets.   
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Bank revalued its non-current and current assets held for sale and recognized their 
impairment.  
 
  

16. Taxation  
 
Income tax benefit/(expense) comprised: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Current income taxes 13,721  242 
Deferred income taxes (36,322)  1,901 
Deferred taxes recognized in other comprehensive income:    
Income taxes on attributable to revaluation of property and equipment (1,070)  - 
Correction of income taxes attributable to revaluation of property and 
equipment in prior year 2,137 

 
- 

    
Total income tax (benefit)/expense (21,534)  2,143 

 
The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rates.  Reconciliation of the income tax expense 
based on the statutory tax rates and actual income tax expense was as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
(Loss)/profit before income tax (17,391)  5,710 
Statutory tax rate 18%  18% 
Theoretical income tax expense at the statutory tax rate (3,130)  1,028 
    
Non-deductible expenditures 8,328  2,616 
Effect of changes in tax base  (10,516)  (1,501) 
Unrecognized deferred tax asset (16,216)  - 

    
Total income tax (benefit)/expense (21,534)  2,143 

 

  

http://www.multitran.ru/c/m.exe?t=2891948_1_2&s1=%F1%E2%E8%ED%F6%EE%E2%E0%FF%20%EB%E5%ED%F2%E0
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As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, deferred tax assets and liabilities and their movements for the respective years were 
as follows: 
 

 

2014  Origination and 
reversal of temporary 

differences 

 2015  Origination and 
reversal of temporary 

differences 

 2016 

 in the 
statement 
of profit  
or loss 

 in the 
statement 
of other 
compre-
hensive 
income 

  in the 
statement 
of profit  
or loss 

 in the 
statement 
of other 
compre-
hensive 
income 

 

              
Tax effect of non-taxable 
temporary differences:  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Allowances for impairment 
and provisions for other 
losses 16,331 

 

(8,902) 

 

- 

 

7,429 

 

7,967 

 

- 

 

15,396 
Income and expense accrued -  -  -  -  57  -  57 
Tax losses carried forward 5,957  (5,957)  -  -  -  -  - 
Fair value of securities 
available for sale 10,808 

 
(9,988) 

 
- 

 
820 

 
- 

 
- 

 
820 

Change in fair value of non-
current assets held for sale - 

 
402 

 
- 

 
402 

 
(402) 

 
- 

 
- 

Unrecognized deferred tax 
asset - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(16,216) 

 
- 

 
(16,216) 

              
Deferred tax assets 33,096  (24,445)  -  8,651  (8,594)  -  57 

              
Tax effect of taxable 
temporary differences:  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Property and equipment (13,642)  695  -  (12,947)  10,697  1,067  (1,183) 
Income and expense accrued (55,001)  21,849  -  (33,152)  33,152  -  - 

              
Deferred tax liabilities (68,643)  22,544  -  (46,099)  43,849  1,067  (1,183) 

              
Total recognized deferred 
tax (liabilities)/assets (35,547) 

 
(1,901) 

 
- 

 
(37,448) 

 
35,255 

 
1,067 

 
(1,126) 

 
In 2016, the effective tax legislation was not subject to significant amendments that would have a material impact on 
the taxation of banks.  
 
However, in 2016 the Bank received a tax clarification regarding the absence of reasons for adjusting the taxable item 
by the amount of expense on financial liabilities to the shareholder, in respect of which the Bank acted prudently and 
made such adjustments.  
 
 

17. Other assets and liabilities 
 
Other financial assets comprised the following: 
 
 2016  2015 
    
Receivables on transactions with payment systems 5,110  2,581 
Receivables on income accrued 3,314  3,345 
Receivables on other financial instruments 1,055  - 
Receivables on customer settlements 590  250 
Receivables on operating leases -  399 

    
Total other financial assets before allowance 10,069  6,575 

    
Allowance for impairment losses (Note 18) (4,240)  (3,898) 

    
Total other financial assets 5,829  2,677 
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Other assets comprised the following: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Other taxes prepaid 87,514  105,999 
Prepayments for insurance, utilities, and other services 7,331  14,948 
Due from former employees 4,575  4,300 
Materials  939  839 
Property and equipment prepaid 299  245 
Other assets 29  - 

    
Total other assets before allowance 100,687  126,331 

    
Allowance for impairment losses (Note 18) (5,996)  (6,625) 

    
Total other assets 94,691  119,706 

 
As at 31 December 2016, other taxes prepaid included also value added tax credit related to repossessed investment 
property in the amount of UAH 87,172 thousand (31 December 2015: UAH 105,234 thousand) (Note 22) to be 
reimbursed at the cost of current tax liabilities in the event of sale of the said properties or at the cost of current 
liabilities in respect of future rental payments (Note 13). 
 
Other financial liabilities comprised the following: 
 
 2016  2015 
    
Payables on customer settlements 3,301  2,269 
Payables for services received 311  188 
Allowances for liabilities and unused lending obligations (Note 18) 63  - 
Payables on payment card transactions 8  27 

    
Total other financial liabilities 3,683  2,484 

 
Other liabilities comprised the following: 
 
 2016  2015 
    
Deferred income 19,972  17,902 
Unused vacation and other salary related accruals 3,465  3,693 
Payables to Individual Deposit Guarantee Fund 968  1,132 
Taxes payable, other than income tax 822  890 
Other 1,858  152 

    
Total other liabilities 27,085  23,769 
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18. Allowances for impairment of other assets and liabilities   
 
Movements in allowances for impairment of other assets and liabilities were as follows:  
 

 

Other 
financial 

assets 

 

Other assets 

 Other 
financial 
liabilities 

 

Total 
        

As at 31 December 2014 3,921  7,027  54  11,002 

        
Charges/(recovery) 474  114  (54)  534 

Uncollectible amounts written off (512)  (29)  -  (541) 
Translation differences 15  (487)  -  (472) 

        
As at 31 December 2015 3,898  6,625  -  10,523 

        
Charges/(recovery) 342  (629)  63  (224) 

        
As at 31 December 2016 4,240  5,996  63  10,299 

 
Allowances for impairment of other assets are deducted from the carrying amounts of the related assets.  Provisions 
for liabilities are included in other liabilities. 
 
 

19. Financial liabilities to the shareholder 
 
As at 31 December 2016, financial liabilities to the shareholder amounted to UAH 109,034 thousand (2015: 
UAH 97,865 thousand), obtained from JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan). This amount consisted of interest-free 
payables for two repossessed buildings from borrowers of the Bank and JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan).  Payables 
represent the difference between the fair value of the above property and the outstanding amount to be paid to JSC 
“BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan) in the total nominal amount of UAH 423,086 thousand, since JSC “BTA Bank” 
(Kazakhstan) also granted loans to the same customers and was in the second order in claims for this collateral.  
 
As at 31 December 2015, due to JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan) in the amount of UAH 97,865 thousand was included 
to the line “Due to Banks and loans to the national Bank of Ukraine”. Since the license JSC "BTA Bank" (Kazakhstan) 
to provide banking operations and transactions in the securities market stopped, the Bank reclassified it to “Financial 
liabilities to the Shareholder”. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, due to JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan) in the amount of UAH 109,034 thousand (2015: 
UAH 21,027 thousand) was secured by the investment property recorded by the Bank in the amount of UAH 442,450 
thousand (2015: UAH 251,701 thousand) (Note 13). 
 
 

20. Customer accounts 
 
Customer accounts comprised: 
 

 2016  2015 
Current accounts    
- Individuals 41,201  87,846 
- Legal entities 54,011  109,245 
- Due to funds under the Bank’s management -  10 
Term deposits    
- Individuals 249,257  342,178 
- Legal entities 47,719  93,159 

    
Total customer accounts 392,188  632,438 
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As at 31 December 2016, customer accounts in the amount of UAH 71,095 thousand (or 18.1%) were due to top 
ten customers (31 December 2015: UAH 201,912 thousand, or 31.9%).  
 
In accordance with the Ukrainian legislation, the Bank is obliged to repay a deposit or its part and accrued interest 
upon the first demand of a depositor under the banking deposit on demand and, under the term banking deposit, the 
bank is obliged to repay a deposit and accrued interest upon the lapse of the term specified in the banking deposit 
agreement. 
 
Analysis of customer accounts by economic sector was as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Individuals 290,458  430,024 
Insurance 33,819  1,848 
Manufacturing 11,573  10,271 
Legal activities  10,578  26,790 
Trade  7,623  26,289 
Construction 7,172  4,885 
Professional, research, and technical activities 7,080  4,595 
Real estate services 2,366  9,612 
IT development 1,837  4,124 
Agriculture 1,618  95,612 
Transport and communications 896  1,726 
Health services 703  1,838 
Engineering  30  1,242 
Other  16,435  13,582 

    

Total customer accounts 392,188  632,438 

 
 

21. Equity 
 
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, there were no movements in the Bank’s issued and fully paid shares. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, total number of authorized ordinary shares was 20,000,000 shares (31 December 2015: 
20,000,000 shares) with the nominal value of UAH 75 per share.  All authorized shares were issued and fully paid.  All 
ordinary shares have equal voting, dividend, or capital distribution rights. 
 
The Bank’s statutory capital was contributed by shareholders in UAH, and all shareholders are entitled to dividends 
and any capital distributions in UAH.  For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, there were no dividends or 
other capital distributions declared. 
 
The statutory capital was restated in prior periods to reflect the effect of hyperinflation in the amount of UAH 8,983 
thousand in accordance with IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, additional paid-in capital comprised the gain accumulated in the prior periods on initial 
recognition of financial instruments on transactions with shareholders in the total amount of UAH 9,237 thousand 
(presented as the excess of the fair value of the funds received over their nominal value).  In 2015, the accumulated 
gain in the amount of UAH 9,237 thousand was reclassified to uncovered loss due to the disposal of the financial 
instrument in the prior periods. 
 
At the same time, in 2015, due to the extension of liabilities to JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan), the Bank recognized 
in equity the amount of UAH 140,403 thousand that arose as the difference between the fair value of payables to 
JSC “BTA Bank” (Kazakhstan) and the nominal contractual value with the maturity transferred to 2 January 2029.  
 
In 2016 the Bank sent from reserve funds the amount of UAH 179 thousand to cover losses of previous years.  
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Movements in revaluation reserves 
 
Movements in revaluation reserves were as follows: 
 

 
Revaluation 
reserve for 

property and 
equipment  

Fair value 
reserve 

for securities  
available for 

sale  

Total 
revaluation 

reserve 
      

As at 1 January 2015 19,905  -  19,905 

      
Amortization of revaluation reserve, net of tax (121)  -  (121) 

      
As at 31 December 2015  19,784  -  19,784 

      
Amortization of revaluation reserve, net of tax (673)    (673) 
Gains or losses on revaluation of securities -  (491)  (491) 
Gains or losses on revaluation of property and 
equipment 5,943 

 
- 

 
5,943 

Income taxes attributable to revaluation of property 
and equipment (1,070) 

 
- 

 
(1,070) 

Correction of income taxes attributable to revaluation 
of property and equipment in prior years 2,137 

 
- 

 
2,137 

      
As at 31 December 2016  26,121  (491)  25,630 

 
Nature and purpose of other reserves 
 
Revaluation reserve for property and equipment 
 
Revaluation reserve for property and equipment is used to record increases in the fair value of buildings and decreases 
to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognized in equity.  
 
Fair value reserve for securities available for sale 
 
This reserve reflects fair value changes on securities available for sale in the Bank’s portfolio.  
 
Reserve and other funds 
 
Reserve and other funds are created in accordance with the Ukrainian legislation to cover unforeseeable losses and 
other expenses of the Bank.  Reserve and other funds are created by distributing the Bank’s net profit for the year 
(at least 5%) until the reserve and other funds equal 25% of the Bank’s regulatory capital. 
 
 

22. Contractual commitments and contingencies 
 
Legal issues 
 

In the course of the Bank’s business, in order to protect its interests (both property and non-property), legal actions 

and complaints occur, where the Bank acts as a plaintiff, a defendant, or a third party. 
 

In order to protect its rights and interests and exclude contingent liabilities during consideration of legal cases, the Bank 

takes all measures provided by law aimed at the course of legal proceedings which do not affect the deterioration of 

the Bank’s financial results. 

 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is subject to legal actions and complaints.  However, management believes 
that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the 
financial position or results of the Bank’s future operations.  
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In prior periods, the Bank repossessed the property pledged, in particular, the building of a medical center located in 
the city of Dnipro.  During the year ended 31 December 2016 and at the date these financial statements were authorized 
for issue, the Bank participated in the legal proceedings related to contestation over the Bank’s ownership of the said 
building.  To date, two opposite rulings have been passed which determine different owners of the building.  The Bank 
estimates an adverse outcome of the events to amount to UAH 49,370 thousand. No provision has been made by the 
Bank in these financial statements. 
 
Taxation  
 
Starting from 1 January 2015, the tax reform has been partially implemented in Ukraine.  In particular, it significantly 
changed general rules for assessment of an item of taxation, as well as terms and procedures for submission of tax 
returns.  In accordance with the Tax Code requirements, the item of taxation shall be determined based on the profit 
before income tax (upon certain adjustments) as defined in the taxpayer’s financial statements submitted to the tax 
authorities together with the tax returns. 
  
The current version of the Tax Code contains certain norms that may lead to varying interpretations and cause the tax 
authorities to apply fiscal approaches.  Such an uncertainty and varying treatment may refer to estimation and reflection 
of financial instruments in accounting, allowances for impairment losses, and pricing on the basis of arm’s length 
transactions and operations with shareholders, which, in turn, may result in assessment of additional tax liabilities, 
fines, and penalties, if tax authorities challenge certain interpretations based on the Bank’s management’s estimates.  
The Bank’s management believes it has accrued all effective taxes based on its interpretation of the tax legislation. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Bank had a VAT asset in the amount of UAH 87,172 thousand (31 December 2015: 
UAH 105,234 thousand) that arose from repossessed property in the prior period (Note 17).  There are no direct 
legislative restrictions as to the carry forward of this VAT asset and its realization through the reduction of tax liabilities 
by the amount of this VAT asset in the event the pledged properties are sold.   
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank’s management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation 
was appropriate and that the Bank’s tax and currency positions will be sustained. 
 
Financial contractual commitments and contingencies 
 
The Bank’s financial contractual commitments and contingencies comprised the following: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Guarantees  2,000  - 
Irrevocable undrawn loan commitments 450  1 
Provision for other financial liabilities (Note 17) (63)  - 

    
Total financial contractual commitments and contingencies 2,387  1 

 
Future minimal lease payments 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, future minimal lease payments under non-cancellable leases obligations were as 
follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Within 1 year 284  899 

    
Total 284  899 
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23.  Interest income 
 
Interest income comprised the following: 
 

 2016  2015 

    
Interest income on financial assets at amortized cost:    
Interest income of impaired financial assets 67,478  91,202 

Interest income of unimpaired financial assets 9,488  48,742 
   

 
Interest income on financial assets at fair value:    

Interest income of unimpaired financial assets 24,862  28,877 
   

 
Total interest income 101,828  168,821 

 
 

24. Net fee and commission income 
 
Net fee and commission income comprised the following: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Cash and settlements operations 14,427  18,813 
Loan servicing  746  353 
Securities operations 195  157 
Guarantees and letters of credit 13  - 
Other  -  49 

    
Total fee and commission income 15,381  19,372 

    Cash and settlements operations (6,003)  (4,001) 

    
Total fee and commission expense (6,003)  (4,001) 

    Net fee and commission income 9,378  15,371 
 

 
 

25. Net loss on transactions with financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

 
Net loss on transactions with financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprised: 
 

 2016  2015 
    

Embedded derivatives on foreign currency denominated loans to 
customers 

453  (153,215) 

Swaps  (3,049)  2,237 

 
   

Total net loss on transactions with financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss (2,596)  (150,978) 
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26.  Other income  
 
Other income comprised the following: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Repayment of maintenance costs by lessees 36,116  33,276 
Income from repayment of irrecoverable amounts written off in prior 
periods 15,054 

 
4,123 

Repayment of utilities by lessees 13,915  11,908 
Income from placement of vehicles 5,761  4,895 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 641  - 
Income on rent of other property 44  - 
Gain on disposal of investment property 38  2,394 
Other income 4,390  2,891 

    
Total other income 75,959  59,487 

 
 

27. Staff costs and other operating expense 
 
Staff costs and other operating expense comprised the following:  
 

 2016  2015 
    
Staff costs 57,073  37,300 
Obligatory social security contributions 7,966  9,920 

    
Total staff costs  65,039  47,220 

    
Legal and consulting services 25,065  38,921 
Utilities for own property 18,761  16,634 
Repair and maintenance of property and equipment 18,251  5,751 
Impairment of non-current and current assets held for sale 17,242  2,235 
Insurance of own property 7,391  18,998 
Operating taxes 5,977  2,294 
Charges to Individual Deposit Guarantee Fund 4,036  5,805 
Telecommunications 3,455  4,192 
Security 3,220  3,259 
Operating leases 3,163  3,051 
Office supplies 3,050  2,241 
Marketing and advertising 1,260  17 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 1,096  197 
Business travel and related expenses 837  770 
Representation expenses 648  650 
Communications 471  468 
Cash collection costs 308  18 
Insurance of loans -  968 
Other  6,524  4,139 

    
Total other operating expense 120,755  110,608 

 
Included in legal and consulting services for the year ended 31 December 2016 were expenses in the amount of 
UAH 13,068 thousand (2015: UAH 20,082 thousand) for independent comprehensive legal analysis of loans to 
customers and support in their restructuring.  
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28. Financial risk management  
 
Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities and it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement, 
and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls.  The process of risk management is critical to the Bank’s 
continuing profitability and each employee within the Bank is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her 
responsibilities.  The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (subdivided into interest rate risk, 
currency risk, and early repayment risk).  The Bank is also subject to operating risks. 
 
Independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, technology, and 
industry.  They are monitored through the Bank’s strategic planning process. 
 
Risk management structure 
 
Supervisory Board 
 
The Supervisory Board of the Bank determines the Bank’s risk management strategy.  
 
Management Board 
 
The Management Board of the Bank is responsible for the implementation of risk management strategies.  The Board 
develops internal regulations that deal with risk management policies, the methodologies and procedures by which risk 
is evaluated, and the process by which risk management is monitored.  The Board reports to the Supervisory Board 
regarding the realization of the Bank’s strategy and the management of significant risks. 
 
Credit Committee 
 
The Credit Committee meets on a daily basis and is responsible for implementation of the internal regulations set by 
the Board, including setting credit policy in line with those regulations, approving credit limits, including limits for 
financial counterparties, monitoring of the credit performance and the quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio, and 
reviewing large projects and the credit policies of regional branches of the Bank.  
 
Asset and Liability Management Committee (“ALMC”) 
 
The ALMC is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s assets and liabilities and liquidity and interest rate sensitivity 
analysis based on instructions and guidelines from the Board, and matches assets and liabilities with different maturities, 
develops various scenarios of the Bank’s statement of financial position structure based on the different levels of 
liquidity and interest rate risks.  It also periodically reviews the Bank’s asset and liability position and determines the 
strategy of the Bank’s asset and liability management.  The ALMC also monitors and reviews interest rates in respect 
of the assets and liabilities of the Bank. 
 
Risk Management Department 
 
The Risk Management Department is responsible for implementing and executing risk management procedures to 
ensure an independent control process. 
 
Treasury 
 
The Bank’s Treasury department is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and liabilities and ensuring the Bank’s 
current liquidity.  
 
Internal Audit Function 
 
The Internal Audit Function is responsible for determining, reviewing, and improving the Bank’s system of internal 
controls.  The Internal Audit Function monitors the conformity of the Bank’s policies with the current legislation and 
regulations, professional norms and ethics.  It confirms the compliance of aggregate accounting statistics with primary 
document data. 
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Compliance Control Function 

 
The Compliance Control Function is responsible for developing standard procedures and using uniform standard 
agreement forms for all types of banking products; tracks knowledge and correct application of the effective legislation 
by relevant units and employees of the Bank.  It also monitors on a regular basis the effective legislation of Ukraine 
and traces the compliance of the Bank’s executives and employees with the requirements stipulated for by the effective 
legislation of Ukraine.  In addition, the Compliance Control Function is engaged in developing guidelines and 
clarifications regarding mitigation and hedging of risks.  
 
Risk measurement and reporting systems 
 
During the risk management process, the Bank determines three categories of losses: expected losses, unexpected 
losses, and extraordinary losses.  Expected losses are measured as an average amount of losses on active transactions.  
Unexpected losses are possible adverse deviations of the amount of expected losses due to unexpected but possible 
events (are usually calculated based on mathematical models).  Extraordinary losses are related to the crises events 
(both at the level of the Bank and at the macroeconomic level). 
 
During the risk analysis process, the Bank considers the exposure to extreme circumstances (stress scenarios) on 
the basis of which the extraordinary emergency measures are determined in the form of a contingency plan.  
 
The risk control process comprises risk planning and setting of limits.  The Bank determines the level of risk which it 
is willing to assume for achieving its business objectives and performing strategic tasks. 
 
To control the current level of liquidity risk, the Bank uses external and internal limits which are communicated to 
other Bank’s units in the form of the ALMC’s decisions. 
 
Limits set by the Bank for lending are approved by the Credit Committee and subdivided into individual credit risk 
limits, portfolio and specific transactions credit risk limits, limits of authorities in respect of taking credit decisions.  
 
The Bank monitors risks, studies the trends, and analyzes reasons for changes in the risk level.  It regularly compares 
the projected and actual risk indicators, as well as determines correlation of different types of risks in order to develop 
and undertake appropriate measures. 
 
Information received as a result of the analysis is regularly presented in the form of reports for examination by the 
Management Board, the ALMC, and the Credit Committee. 
 
The Bank’s Supervisory Board is advised about risk levels on a quarterly basis. 
 
Risk mitigation 
 
As part of its overall risk management, the Bank uses varied instruments to manage exposures resulting from changes 
in interest rates, foreign currencies, capital adequacy risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from forecast transactions.   
 
The Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risks. 
 
Excessive risk concentration 
 
The Bank exercises a credit risk management function during the process of selecting potential borrowers taking into 
account the concentration risk of related parties, industries, maturity, currency, and other parameters defined by 
internal regulations. 
 
To maintain a reasonable level of concentration, the Bank sets structural limits which are within prudential 
requirements. 
 
Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers, clients, or counterparties failed to discharge 
their contractual obligations.  The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is 
willing to assume for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring 
exposures in relation to such limits. 
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The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions.  Counterparty limits are established by the use 
of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty with a risk rating.  Risk ratings are subject to 
regular revisions.  The credit quality review process allows the Bank assessing a potential loss as a result of risks to 
which it is exposed and take corrective actions. 

 
Credit related commitment risks 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position, including derivatives, 
is best represented by their carrying amounts before the effect of mitigation through the use of offsetting and collateral 
agreements and after deducting any allowance for impairment. 
 
Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the carrying value represents the current credit risk exposure 
but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 
 
Credit quality by financial asset categories 
 
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank’s internal credit ratings.  The table below shows the credit 
quality by categories of assets for loan-related statement of financial position lines, based on the Bank’s credit rating 
system. 
 

 

Neither past due nor individually impaired  Past due  
or 

individually 
impaired 

 

Total 

Notes  High 
grade 

 Standard 
grade 

 

 Sub-
standard 

grade   
31 December 2016           
           
Balances with the 
National Bank of Ukraine 

8 21,978  -  -  -  21,978 

Correspondent accounts 
with banks 

8 35,944  -  9  -  35,953 

Due from banks 9 11,889  -  -  -  11,889 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 

10 -  4  -  1,439  1,443 

Loans to legal entities 
before allowances  

11 17,198  6,740  -  659,963  683,901 

Loans to individuals 
before allowances 

11 2,305  6,662  -  79,253  88,220 

Securities available for 
sale before allowances 

12 155,075  -  -  4,554  159,629 

Other financial assets 17 7,182  -  -  2,887  10,069 

           
Total  251,571  13,406  9  748,096  1,013,082 
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Neither past due nor individually impaired  Past due  
or 

individually 
impaired 

 

Total 

Notes  High 
grade 

 Standard 
grade 

 

 Sub-
standard 

grade   
31 December 2015           
           
Balances with the 
National Bank of Ukraine 

8 7,317  -  -  -  7,317 

Correspondent accounts 
with banks 

8 113,423  -  -  365  113,788 

Due from banks 9 5,823  -  -  -  5,823 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 

10 -  846  -  140  986 

Loans to legal entities 
before allowances  

11 20,344  32,285  -  658,516  711,145 

Loans to individuals 
before allowances 

11 867  1,356  -  75,410  77,633 

Securities available for 
sale before allowances 

12 208,489  -  -  4,554  213,043 

Securities held to 
maturity 

12 
30,015 

 -  -  -  
30,015 

Other financial assets 17 2,300  389  140  3,746  6,575 

           
Total  388,578  34,876  140  742,731  1,166,325 

 
It is the Bank’s credit risk management policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio.  
This facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of 
business, geographical regions, and products.  The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics, 
combined with processed market information. 
 
Neither past due nor impaired loans are split by the Bank into the following credit risk categories: 
 

 High grade.  This category includes exposures with insignificant credit risk which is characterized by strong financial 
position of the borrower and good loan servicing; 

 Standard grade.  This category includes exposures with insignificant credit risk which however may increase as a result 
of unfavorable conditions; there are exposures to borrowers with good financial standing and good payment history 
or borrowers with strong financial position and payment history with delays not exceeding 90 days; 

 Sub-standard grade.  This category includes exposures with significant credit risk which is characterized by weak/poor 

financial position of the borrower and good/poor/unsatisfactory loan servicing. 
 
The following table shows the principle according to which the credit quality grades were assigned to financial assets 
in the table above: 
 

 

 Rating values 
Rating system High grade Standard 

grade 
Sub-standard 

grade 

Loans to legal entities 
The NBU’s classification 
system for legal entities 1 2 3, 4, 5 

Loans to individuals 
The NBU’s classification 
system for individuals 1 2 3, 4, 5 
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Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans per categories of financial assets 
 

31 December 
2016 

Less than  
30 days 

 From 31 to 60 
days 

 From 61 to 90 
days 

 More than  
90 days 

 
Total 

          
Loans to 
individuals -  -  -  495  495 

          
Total -  -  -  495  495 

 
31 December 
2015 

Less than  
30 days 

 From 31 to 60 
days 

 From 61 to 90 
days 

 More than  
90 days 

 
Total 

          
Loans to 
individuals -  197  -  6,104  6,301 

          
Total -  197  -  6,104  6,301 

 
Geographical concentration 
 
Geographical concentration of the Bank’s monetary assets and liabilities is set out below: 
 

 2016  

 

Ukraine 
 

OECD 
countries 

 
CIS and other 

countries 
  Total 

Assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents 64,052   30,634                         9     94,695  
Due from banks 11,889   -                            -     11,889  
Loans to customers 452,036   -                            -          452,036  

Securities available for sale    155,075  -                            -     155,075 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 1,443   -                            -     1,443  

Other financial assets 5,829   -                            -     5,829  
 690,324  30,634   9     720,967  
        
Liabilities:        
Financial liabilities to the shareholder              -     -     109,034   109,034  

Due to banks 388,313   1,391   2,484       392,188  
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 657  -  -  657 

Other financial liabilities 3,677   1   5  3,683  
    392,647   1,392   111,523        505,562  

Net position 297,677  

                             
29,242    (111,514)  215,405 

Net contractual commitments and 
contingencies 4,546  -  -  4,546 
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 2015 

 

Ukraine 
 

OECD 
countries 

 
CIS and other 

countries 
  Total 

Assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents      44,751   113,000                          -          157,751  
Due from banks        5,823   -                            -              5,823  
Loans to customers    530,913   -                            -          530,913  

Securities available for sale    208,489  -                            -        208,489 

Securities held to maturity 30,015  -  -  30,015 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss           986   -                            -                 986  

Other financial assets    2,677   -                            -          2,677  
 823,654   113,000                          -       936,654  
        
Liabilities:        
Financial liabilities to the shareholder              -     -     97,865          97,865  

Customer accounts    623,280   3,635   5,523       632,438  

Other financial liabilities      2,476   3   5        2,484  
    625,756   3,638   103,393        732,787  

Net position    197,898   

                             
109,362    (103,393)  203,867  

Net contractual commitments and 
contingencies 1  -  -  1 

 
Liquidity risk and funding management 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities.  To limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, 
manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis.  This incorporates 
an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral, which could be used to secure 
additional funding if required. 
 
The main liquidity risk factor is represented by the maturity gap in the assets and liabilities of the Bank.  
 
Main principles of liquidity risk management are as follows: 
 

 Centralization of liquidity risk management at the Head Office level; 

 Separate management of short-term and structural liquidity; 

 Diversification of funding sources; 

 Limitation of liquidity risk through establishment of limits; 

 Matching assets and liabilities in terms of maturity; 

 Maintenance of an adequate liquidity buffer in the event of a liquidity deficit; 

 Adequate monitoring and control system. 
 

In order to assess its liquidity risk, the Bank uses gap analysis, ratio analysis, scenario analysis (including stress testing), 
and borrowed funds structure analysis.  Liquidity risk is evaluated with respect to each currency.  Aging analysis of the 
Bank’s assets and liabilities is presented in Note 30.  
 
The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee is generally responsible for development of the liquidity risk 
management strategy.  Operational short-term liquidity (up to 90 days) risk management is exercised by the Treasury 
Department and the Securities Department, ensuring compliance with short-term liquidity risk limits.  The structural 
liquidity management decisions are taken by the ALMC on the basis of the information prepared by the Risk 
Management Department. 
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Short-term liquidity risk management 
 
To assess short-term liquidity risk, a gap analysis is prepared on a daily basis with respect to contractual maturity and 
currency.  For maturities up to 14 days, a detailed daily payment schedule is used to determine a daily demand for 
additional financing; maturities greater than 14 days and up to 90 days are grouped into several time categories for 
liquidity management purposes. 
 
The Bank maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can be easily sold in the event of an 
unforeseen interruption of cash flows.  The Bank considers the following assets to be liquid: cash on hand, 
correspondent accounts with the NBU and other banks, and securities refinanced by the NBU.  An adequate volume 
of liquid assets is determined based on stress testing.  Furthermore, the Bank has entered into facility agreements with 
several banks, which it may use in order to satisfy an unexpected demand for funds. 
 
Structural liquidity risk management 
 
To assess structural liquidity risk, a gap analysis of assets and liabilities is prepared on a daily basis with respect to 
contractual maturity (greater than 91 days) and currency. 
 
The Bank has set the following ratios in order to measure and limit its structural liquidity risk: 
 

 Ratio of term liabilities to total liabilities; 

 Ratio of due to banks to total liabilities; 

 Ratio of the cumulative gap between monetary assets and liabilities to monetary assets. 
 
Scenario analysis in liquidity risk management  
 

The Bank regularly monitors the liquidity of the money market.  Three scenarios are analyzed: usual market conditions; 
liquidity crisis of the Bank; liquidity crisis in the market.  In the latter case, the Bank implements a preliminary developed 
action plan for maintaining liquidity under crisis conditions. 
 
Additionally, the Bank develops stress-testing scenarios which reflect unlikely but material adverse changes of factors 
affecting the Bank’s business.  
 
The diversified structure of the Bank’s obligations is achieved through consistent monitoring of the liabilities portfolio 
concentration by categories of customers with the largest amounts of funds with the Bank (the total amount of funds 
due to 5, 10, and 20 largest customers). 
 
The Bank manages outflows of liquidity through building awareness among depositors so that retain its deposit 
portfolio, hold balances on current accounts, hold back funds under non-performing borrowers, and sell the Bank’s 
properties. 
 

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
 
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
repayment obligations.  Less than 3 months liabilities are those that are due on the earliest date.  However, the Bank 
expects that many customers will not demand repayment on the earliest date when the Bank could be required to make 
a respective repayment, and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows calculated by the Bank on the basis of 
information on deposit repayment in previous periods.  
 

31 December 2016 
Less than 
3 months 

 
 

From 3 to 
12  months 

 
 

From 1 to 
5 years 

 
 

Over  
5 years  Total 

Financial liabilities to the 
shareholder 

-  -                    -          423,086       423,086 

Customer accounts 161,289  232,675  16,242  -  410,206 
Other financial liabilities 1,555  368  1,760   -  3,683 

Total  162,844  233,043  18,002  423,086  836,975 
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31 December 2015 
Less than 
3 months 

 
 

From 3 to 
12  months 

 
 

From 1 to 
5 years 

 
 

Over  
5 years  Total 

Financial liabilities to the 
shareholder 

-  -                    -           423,086        423,086 

Customer accounts    384,403        240,863          32,027                  15        657,308 
Other financial liabilities 480        248      1,754             2        2,484 

Total  384,883  241,111  33,781  423,103  1,082,878 

 
The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s irrevocable financial commitments and 
contingencies: 
 

 
Up to 

3 months 
 From 3 to 

12 months 
 From 1 to 

5 years 
 Over 

5 years 
 

Total 
          
31 December 2016 -  2,105  345  -  2,450 
31 December 2015 1  -  -  -  1 

 
The Bank’s capability to repay its liabilities relies on its ability to realize an equivalent amount of assets within the same 
period of time.  
 
The maturity analysis does not reflect the historical stability of current accounts.  Their liquidation has historically 
taken place over a longer period than indicated in the tables above.  These balances are included in the amounts due 
in less than three months in the tables above.  
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchanges, and equity prices.  The Bank classifies exposures to market 
risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios.  Market risk positions are managed and monitored using sensitivity 
analysis.  
 
Market risk – non-trading  
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values 
of financial instruments.  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Bank’s statement of profit or loss. 
 
The sensitivity of the statement profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest 
income for one year, based on the floating rates for non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at 
31 December 2016 and 2015.  The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on the statement of profit or loss. 
 

 As at 31 December 2016  As at 31 December 2015 
 Interest rate Interest rate  Interest rate Interest rate 
 +1 % -1 %  +1 % -1 % 
      

Net impact on profit 3,390   (3,390)  1,713   (1,713) 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.  
The Management Board sets limits on positions by currency based on the NBU regulations.  Positions are monitored 
on a daily basis.  
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The Bank has established the following limits to minimize its exposure to foreign currency risk: 
 

 Total open currency position; 

 Total long open currency position; 

 Total short open currency position. 
 
Compliance with the internal limits of the Bank is in line with the currency risk management requirements established 
by the NBU. 
 
The Banks’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is presented in the table below: 

 

31 December 2016 UAH   

USD  
USD 1 = 

UAH 
27.190858   

EUR  
EUR 1 = 

UAH 
28.422604   

Other 
foreign 

currencies   Total 
Non-derivative financial assets          
Cash and cash equivalents 33,373  44,522  15,791  1,009  94,695 
Due from banks 5,786  6,103  -  -  11,889 
Loans to customers 341,674  110,362  -  -  452,036 
Securities available for sale  109,397  45,678  -  -  155,075 
Other financial assets 3,091  2,359  327  52  5,829 

          
Total non-derivative financial assets 493,321  209,024  16,118  1,061  719,524 

          
Non-derivative financial liabilities          
Financial liabilities to the shareholder 109,034  -  -  -  109,034 
Customer accounts 177,560  187,163  27,389  76  392,188 
Other financial liabilities 3,446  91  140  6  3,683 

          
Total non-derivative financial 
liabilities 290,040  187,254  27,529  82  504,905 

          
Open balance sheet position 203,281  21,770  (11,411)  979   

          
Derivative financial instruments          
Embedded derivatives on foreign 
currency denominated loans to 
customers 1,439  -  -  -  1,439 
Financial assets on foreign exchange 
forward contract  4  -  -  -  4 
Financial liabilities on foreign exchange 
forward contract 657  -  -  -  657 

Embedded derivatives on foreign 
currency denominated loans to 
customers          
Forward foreign exchange  786  -  -  -  786 

          
Liabilities and demands on foreign 
currency transactions          
Currency and precious metals receivable  53,725  4,664  12,506  -  70,895 
Currency and precious metals deliverable  866  66,884  -  -  67,750 

Open position on liabilities and 
demands on foreign currency 
transactions  52,859  (62,220)  12,506  -  3,145 

          
Open currency position included 
derivatives  256,926  (40,450)  1,095  979   
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31 December 2015 UAH   

USD  
USD 1 = 

UAH 
24.000667   

EUR  
EUR 1 = 

UAH 
26.223129   

Other 
foreign 

currencies   Total 
Non-derivative financial assets          
Cash and cash equivalents 19,593  106,320  29,944  1,894  157,751 
Due from banks 3,771  2,050  2  -  5,823 
Loans to customers 395,024  135,889  -  -  530,913 
Securities available for sale  208,489  -  -  -  208,489 
Securities held to maturity  30,015  -  -  -  30,015 
Other financial assets 2,222  244  24  187  2,677 

          
Total non-derivative financial assets 659,114  244,503  29,970  2,081  935,668 

          
Non-derivative financial liabilities          
Financial liabilities to the shareholders 97,865  -  -  -  97,865 
Customer accounts 291,630  310,504  30,150  154  632,438 
Other financial liabilities 2,404  80  -  -  2,484 

          
Total non-derivative financial 
liabilities 391,899  310,584  30,150  154  732,787 

          
Open balance sheet position 267,215  (66,081)  (180)  1,927   

          
Derivative financial instruments          
Embedded derivatives on foreign 
currency denominated loans to 
customers 986  -  -  -  986 

Open position on derivative financial 
instruments 986  -  -  -  986 

          
Open currency position included 
derivatives 268,201  (66,081)  (180)  1,927   

 
The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Bank had significant exposure as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 
on its non-trading monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows.  The analysis calculates the effect of a 
reasonably possible movement in the currency rate against UAH, with all other variables held constant in the statement 
of profit or loss.  The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on the statement profit or loss.  A negative 
amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the statement of profit or loss or equity, while a positive amount 
reflects a net potential increase. 
 

Currency 

Increase in 
foreign 

exchange 
rate, % 

2016  

Effect on 
profit and 

equity 
2016   

Increase in 
foreign 

exchange 
rate, % 

2015  

Effect on 
profit and 

equity 
2015  

        
USD +10%  (3,317)  +40%  (21,675) 
EUR +10%  90  +40%  (59) 

 

Currency 

Decrease in 
foreign 

exchange 
rate, % 

2016  

Effect on 
profit and 

equity 
2016   

Decrease in 
foreign 

exchange 
rate, % 

2015  

Effect on 
profit and 

equity 
2015  

        
USD -10%  3,317  -40%  21,675 
EUR -10%  (90)  -40%  59 

  



PJSC “BTA BANK”                                  Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

(in Ukrainian Hryvnias and in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 
 

The accompanying notes on pages from 7 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
48 

Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud, or external events.  When controls 
fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to 
financial loss. The Bank cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by 
monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Bank is able to manage the risks.  Controls include effective 
segregation of duties, access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education, and assessment processes, 
including the use of internal audit. 
 
 

29. Fair value measurement 
 
Fair value measurement procedures 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
 
The Bank’s Investment Property and Securities Departments and Treasury determine the policies and procedures for 
both recurring fair value measurement, such as unquoted trading and available-for-sale financial assets, unquoted 
derivatives, investment property and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale. 
 
External appraisers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as real property.  Selection criteria include 
market knowledge, reputation, independence, and whether professional standards are maintained.  The Bank decides, 
after discussions with its external appraiser, which valuation techniques and inputs to use in each case. 
 
At each reporting date, the Bank analyzes movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be re-
measured or re-assessed as per the Bank’s accounting policies.  For this analysis, the Bank verifies the major inputs 
applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents.  The Bank, in conjunction with the Bank’s external appraisers, also compares every change in the fair value 
of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.  Periodically, 
the Bank and external appraisers present the valuation results to the Audit Committee and the Bank’s independent 
auditors.  This includes a discussion of major assumptions used in the valuations. 
 
For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2, or 3 based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 
 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date.  Quoted prices in active market are the most reliable evidences of the fair value and, if 
available, may be used to adjust the fair value measurements; 
 
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; 
 
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
Certain financial assets and financial liabilities, including the Bank’s buildings, are measured at fair values as at the end 
of the reporting period.  The following methods are applied to measure the fair values of those assets and liabilities: 
 
The fair values of currency forwards, spots, currency security forwards, currency-interest swaps, and investments 
available for sale are measured at Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy using the discounted cash flows.  Future cash flows 
are estimated based on forward exchange rates and discounted using the inter-bank exchange rates. 
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Embedded derivatives are measured at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy using the discounted cash flows.  Future cash 
flows are estimated based on the observable market data, as well as unobservable data.  Unobservable data include 
assumptions regarding future financial performance of an issuer and its risk profile. 
 
Construction in progress is measured at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.  The Bank engages independent appraisers 
to arrive at the fair value of buildings and office premises, with the comparison sales method applied, whereas for 
items that have no market analogs, income capitalization method is applied.  In applying the comparison sales method, 
prices for market sales of comparable property items located in the nearest vicinity are adjusted with reference to 
differences in key parameters (such as floor space of the property).  Key parameter used in this valuation method is 
the price of one square meter of the property item.   
  
Buildings and office premises are measured at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.  The Bank engages independent 
appraisers to arrive at the fair value of buildings and office premises, with the comparison sales method applied, 
whereas for items that have no market analogs, income capitalization method is applied.  In applying the comparison 
sales method, prices for market sales of comparable property items located in the nearest vicinity are adjusted with 
reference to differences in key parameters (such as floor space of the property).  Key parameter used in this valuation 
method is the price of one square meter of the property item. 
 

 
Other financial instruments 
 
Due to absence of secondary market for due from banks, loans from the National Bank of Ukraine, due to banks, 
loans to customers, accounts receivable and payable in Ukraine, it is impracticable to obtain a reliable fair value 
measurement of those instruments.  
 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with short maturities are assumed to approximate their fair 
values.  This assumption is applied to demand deposits and current accounts with unspecified maturities. 
 
Loans to customers are measured at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy using the discounted cash flows.  Future cash 
flows are estimated based on the observable market data, as well as unobservable data.  Unobservable data include 
assumptions regarding future financial performance of a counterparty and its risk profile. 
 
Due to banks is measured at Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy using the discounted cash flows.  Future cash flows are 
estimated based on the information for which all significant data may be, directly or indirectly, obtained through 
observation, whereas estimates use one or several observable determined prices for regular transactions in the markets 
that are considered to be active. 
  
Customer accounts are measured at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy using the discounted cash flows.  Future cash 
flows are estimated based on the observable market data, as well as unobservable data.  Unobservable data include 
assumptions regarding future financial performance of a counterparty and its risk profile.  
 
To disclose fair values, the Bank determined categories of its assets and liabilities based on their nature, characteristics, 
and risks of assets and liabilities, as well as a level of the fair value hierarchy. 
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The following table summarizes financial instruments measured at fair value by levels of the fair value hierarchy as at 
31 December 2016: 
 

 Fair value measurement using: 

 

Quoted 
prices 

in active 
markets 
(Level 1) 

Significant 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

Total  

    
Assets measured at fair value     
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss - - 1,443 1,443 
Securities available for sale - 155,075 - 155,075 
Investment property - - 1,228,507 1,228,507 
Property and equipment (buildings) - - 84,694 84,694 
Non-current and current assets held 
for sale - - 51,305 51,305 

Assets for which fair values are 
disclosed     
Cash and cash equivalents 94,695 - - 94,695 
Due from banks - 11,889 - 11,889 
Loans to customers - - 294,675 294,675 

Liabilities for which fair values 
are disclosed     
Financial liabilities to the shareholder - 77,643 - 77,643 
Customer accounts - - 284,622 284,622 

 
The following table summarizes financial instruments measured at fair value by levels of the fair value hierarchy as at 
31 December 2015: 
 

 Fair value measurement using: 

 

Quoted 
prices 

in active 
markets 
(Level 1) 

Significant 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) 

Total  

    
Assets measured at fair value     

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss - - 986 986 
Securities available for sale - 208,489 - 208,489 
Investment property -  1,303,359 1,303,359 
Property and equipment (buildings) - - 15,630 15,630 
Non-current and current assets held 
for sale - - 58,850 58,850 
Assets for which fair values are 
disclosed 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 157,751 - - 157,751 
Due from banks - 5,823 - 5,823 
Loans to customers - - 309,106 309,106 
Liabilities for which fair values 
are disclosed 

    

Financial liabilities to the 
shareholders 

- 57,035 - 57,035 

Customer accounts - - 437,692 437,692 
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Set out below is a comparison by categories of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments 
that are not carried at fair value in the financial statements.  The table does not include the fair values of non-financial 
assets and non-financial liabilities. 
 

 2016  2015  

 

Carrying 
amounts 

 Fair 
value 

 Accumu-
lated 

(loss)/ 
profit 

 Carrying 
amounts 

 Fair 
value 

 Accumu-
lated 

(loss)/ 
profit 

Financial assets            
            
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

94,695  94,695  - 
 

157,751  157,751  - 

Due from banks 11,889  11,889  -  5,823  5,823  - 
Loans to customers 452,036  294,675  (157,361)  530,913  309,106  (221,807) 
Securities available for 
sale - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
30,015 

 
30,015 

 
- 

 

Financial liabilities            
            
Financial liabilities to the 
shareholder (109,034)  (77,643)  31,391  (97,865)  (57,035)  40,830 

Due to banks (392,188)  (284,622)  107,566  (632,438)  (437,692)  194,746 

            
Total unrecognized 

changes in fair value 
    

(18,404)      13,769 

 
The following describes methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments 
which are not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements. 
 
Assets the fair values of which approximate their carrying amounts 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have short-term maturities (less than three months), it is 
assumed that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value.  This assumption is also applied to demand deposits 
and savings accounts without a specific maturity. 
 
Financial instruments with fixed and variable interest rates 
 
The fair values of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost are estimated by comparing market 
interest rates when they were first recognized with current market rates offered for similar financial instruments.  
The estimated fair values of fixed interest bearing deposits and loans are based on discounted cash flows using 
prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and maturity.  For quoted debt instruments, 
the fair values are determined based on quoted market prices.  The fair values of unquoted debt instruments are 
estimated by discounting future cash flows using the rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk, and 
remaining maturities.  
 
Movements in Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value 
 
The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 assets and liabilities which 
are recorded at fair values: 
 

 
As at 1 January  

2016 
 As at 31 December 

2016   

    
Securities available for sale -  - 
 

 
As at 1 January  

2015 
 As at 

31 December 2015   

    
Securities available for sale 4,554  - 
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30. Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
The table below shows an analysis of financial assets and liabilities according to when they are expected to be recovered 
or settled.  See Note 28 for the Bank’s contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.  
 

 2016  2015 

 

Within one 
year 

 More 
than one 

year 

 Total  Within one 
year 

 More 
than one 

year 

 Total 

Assets             
Cash and cash 
equivalents 94,695  -  94,695  157,751       

                 
-        157,751      

Due from banks 11,889   -  11,889  5,823                   -            5,823       
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 4  1,439  1,443  

                
-          

             
986        

              
986       

Loans to customers 120,284  331,752  452,036  261,614        269,299        530,913       
Securities available for sale 90,058  65,017  155,075  208,489               -        208,489 
Securities held to maturity -  -  -  30,015  -  30,015 
Other financial assets 5,339  490  5,829  2,302        375        2,677       

            
Total  322,269  398,698  720,967  665,994  270,660  936,654 

            Liabilities             
Financial liabilities to the 
shareholders -  109,034  109,034  -                      97,865        97,865       
Customer accounts 378,480  13,708  392,188  608,241        24,197          632,438       
Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 657  -  657  -  -  - 
Other financial liabilities 1,923  1,760  3,683  730        1,754         2,484       

            
Total 381,060  124,502  505,562  608,971  123,816  732,787 

            Net (58,791)  274,196  215,405  57,023  146,844  203,867 

 
The tables above do not reflect the expected cash flows estimated by the Bank based on the information relating to 
deposit repayment history in previous periods.  The tables show maturities based on contractual settlement dates 
(besides, a pessimistic scenario is considered for repayment of loans, i.e. when a loan payment is overdue, the whole 
loan is included to “More than one year” category).  However, the Bank expects that most customers will not demand 
early repayments. 
 
Management of the Bank’s liquidity includes estimation of basic current accounts, i.e. stable customer account balances, 
determined by using statistical methods in respect of the historical information about fluctuations in the balances of 
current customer accounts.  As at 31 December 2016, minimum balances on current accounts were estimated in the 
amount of UAH 87,557 thousand, which represented 80% of minimum balances on current accounts for the period 
(31 December 2015: UAH 121,099 thousand).  Based on the going concern assumption, the actual maturities of 
minimum balances are indefinite.  Summary of the estimated maturities of current customer accounts and actual 
liquidity gaps as at 31 December 2016 is presented as follows. 
 

 Within one 
year 

  
Cumulative gap (58,791) 
Current customer accounts based on estimated maturities 87,557 

  

Cumulative liquidity gap based on estimated maturities of current customer accounts 28,766 
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31. Related party disclosures 
 
In accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability 
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational 
decisions.  In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, not merely the legal form. 
 
Related parties may enter into transactions, which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties 
may not be effected on the same terms, conditions, and amounts as transactions between unrelated parties. 
 
The related party outstanding balances at the year-end and related expense and income for the year were as follows: 
 

   2016     2015 

 

Shareholders 
and 

entities with 
significant 

influence over 
the Bank 

Entities 
under 

common 
control 

 Key 
manage-

ment 
personnel 

 Other 
related 
parties 

 Shareholders 
and 

entities with 
significant 

influence over 
the Bank 

Entities 
under 

common 
control 

 Key 
manage-

ment 
personnel 

 Other 
related 
parties 

Loans outstanding 
as at 1 January - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Net decrease in 
loans during the year - 

 
- 

 
14 

 
150,988 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Loans 
outstanding as at 
31 December  - 

 

- 

 

14 

 

150,988 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

Interest income on 
loans  - 

 
- 

 
1 

 
39 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,271 

Created provision 
for loans - 

 
- 

 
(2) 

 
(150,988) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Expenses to create 
provisions for loans - 

 
- 

 
(2) 

 
(1,561) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Other amounts 
due as at  
1 January  - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 
Net increase in 
other amounts 
due during the 
year 6 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

Other amounts 
due as at  
31 December  6 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

Due to other 
banks as at 1 
January - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 
Net increase in 
due to other 
banks during the 
year - 

 

9 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

Due to other 
banks as at 31 
December  - 

 

9 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

Financial liabilities 
to the shareholder 97,865 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
223,679 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Net increase/ 
(decrease) financial 
liabilities to the 
shareholder during 
the year 11,169 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(125,814) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

                
Financial 
liabilities to the 109,034 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
97,865 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 



PJSC “BTA BANK”                                  Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2016 

(in Ukrainian Hryvnias and in thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 
 

The accompanying notes on pages from 7 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
54 

   2016     2015 

 

Shareholders 
and 

entities with 
significant 

influence over 
the Bank 

Entities 
under 

common 
control 

 Key 
manage-

ment 
personnel 

 Other 
related 
parties 

 Shareholders 
and 

entities with 
significant 

influence over 
the Bank 

Entities 
under 

common 
control 

 Key 
manage-

ment 
personnel 

 Other 
related 
parties 

shareholder as at 
31 December 

Customer 
accounts as at  
1 January  - 

 

1,417 

 

684 

 

6,484 

 

- 

 

1,388 

 

1,098 

 

- 
Net increase/ 
(decrease) in 
customer 
accounts during 
the year - 

 

13,617 

 

(114) 

 

(6,462) 

 

- 

 

29 

 

(414) 

 

6,484 

                
Customer 
accounts as at  
31 December - 

 

15,034 

 

570 

 

22 

 

- 

 

1,417 

 

684 

 

6,484 

                
Interest expense (11,169)  (524)  (167)  (151)  (14,590)  -  (37)  (101) 
Other operating 
expense - 

 
- 

 
(132) 

 
(118) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(5,000) 

Fee and 
commission 
income 22 

 

- 

 

24 

 

38 

 

- 

 

1 

 

10 

 

278 
Rental income -  -  -  202  -  -  -  1,227 
Other income -  -  14  103  -  -  -  454 

 
Remuneration to key management personnel comprised the following: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Payroll and other short-term benefits 28,808  15,456 
Social security charges 2,080  2,134 

    
Total remuneration to key management personnel 30,888  17,590 

 
In 2016, in addition to basic and additional salaries, additional termination benefits were paid to the Bank’s employees 
in the amount of UAH 5,079 thousand due to their dismissal, including because of downsizing.  
 
 

32. Capital adequacy 
 
The Bank’s objective in capital management is to ensure coverage of risks inherent in the banking business and 
protection of deposits, financial stability, and sustainable development.  To monitor the regulatory capital adequacy, 
the Bank uses varied methods and ratios, including the ratios established by the Basel Capital Accord 1988 and the 
ratios established by the NBU in supervising the Bank.  
 
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management strategy are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally 
imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and to maximize shareholders’ value. 
 
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of its activities.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the 
amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, or issue equity securities.  No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies, and processes from the previous years. 
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Capital adequacy ratio under the NBU’s requirements 
 
The NBU requires that banks maintain a regulatory capital adequacy ratio of 10% of risk-weighted assets, as computed 
based on the NBU’s requirements.  As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio on this basis 
was as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    

Basic capital 1,484,858  1,482,096 
Additional capital  145,199  131,279 

    
Total capital 1,630,057  1,613,375 

    Risk weighted assets 2,031,184  2,097,464 

    Regulatory capital adequacy ratio 80.25%  76.92% 
 
Capital adequacy ratio under the 1988 Basel Capital Accord 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio computed in accordance with the Basel Capital 
Accord 1988, with subsequent amendments, including the amendments to incorporate market risks, was as follows: 
 

 2016  2015 
    
Tier 1 capital 1,631,042  1,626,226 
Tier 2 capital 25,630  19,784 

    
Total capital 1,656,672  1,646,010 

    Risk weighted assets 1,907,100  2,006,982 

    Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 85.53%  81.07% 
Total capital adequacy ratio 86.87%  82.01% 

 
 

33.  Subsequent events 
 
Subsequent to 31 December 2016, the extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting was held which decided to dispose 
of the Bank’s investment property in the amount of UAH 919,274 thousand as at 31 December 2016.  The property 
items may be sold at the price not lower than their carrying amounts at the disposal date. 
 
Subsequent to 31 December 2016, the Bank removed the deficiency related to violation in the limit of its open currency 
position.  
 
 
Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Bank’s Management Board: 
 

 
 


